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Independent auditor's report to the members of Cumbria Commissioner Fire and  
Rescue Authority   
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements  
 
Disclaimer of opinion   
 
We were engaged to audit the financial statements of Cumbria Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority (the  
‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2025, which comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  
Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the  
financial statements, including material accounting policy information and include the firefighters' pension fund  
financial statements comprising the Fund Account, the Net Current Assets and Liabilities Statement and notes  
to the Firefighters Pension Fund account. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their  
preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the  
United Kingdom 2024-25.  
 
We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements of the Authority. Because of the  
significance of the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we have not  
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these  
financial statements.  
 
Basis for disclaimer of opinion   
 
The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2024 (‘the Regulations’) require the Authority] to publish  
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 by 27 February 2026 (‘the backstop date’). The  
backstop date has been put in law with the purpose of clearing the backlog of historical financial statements.   
On 27 February 2025, we issued a disclaimer of opinion on the Authority’s financial statements for the year  
ended 31 March 2024. We were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence by 28 February 2025,  
the previous backstop date, that the financial statements were free from material misstatement. We were  
therefore unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence over the corresponding figures or whether  
there was any consequential effect on the Authority Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for  
the year ended 31 March 2025 for the same reason.   
 
As a result of the limitations imposed by the backstop date, we have been unable to obtain sufficient  
appropriate audit evidence over the Authority’s opening balances reported in the financial statements for the  
year ended 31 March 2025. Consequently, we have been unable to satisfy ourselves over the in-year  
movements in the net pension liability and property, plant and equipment. Similarly, we have not been able to  
obtain assurance over the Authority’s closing reserves balance of £163 million at 31 March 2025, also due to  
the uncertainty over their opening amount.   
 
We have concluded that the possible effect of these matters on the financial statements could be both material  
and pervasive. We have therefore issued a disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements. This enables the  
Authority to comply with the requirement of the Regulations to publish the financial statements for the year  
ended 31 March 2025 by the backstop date.  
 
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 
  
Because of the significance of the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report,  
we have been unable to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the  
requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom  
2024-25, or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are  
not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that  
risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.   
 
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice   
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the  
information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the Authority’s financial statements and our  
auditor’s report thereon. Because of the significance of the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of  
opinion section of our report, we have been unable to form an opinion, whether based on the work undertaken  
in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the Authority gained through our  
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work in relation to the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use  
of resources, whether the other information published together with the financial statements in the Statement  
of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the  
financial statements.  
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:  
 
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in  
the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or  
 
• we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and  
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or  
 
• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under  
Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the  
audit; or;   
 
• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course  
of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or   
 
• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act  
2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.  
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.  
 
Responsibilities of the Authority and the Chief Finance Officer  
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, the Authority is  
required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its  
officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Chief  
Finance Officer. The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts,  
which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC  
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024-25, for being satisfied that they  
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Chief Finance Officer determines is necessary to  
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud  
or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for assessing the Authority’s  
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using  
the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the  
intention to dissolve the Authority without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
 
Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Authority’s financial statements in accordance with International  
Standards on Auditing (UK) and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters described in the  
basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit  
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on those financial statements.    
 
We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit  
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other  
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
 
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including  
fraud  
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design  
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of  
irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that  
material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly  
planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).   
 
The audit was defective in its ability to detect irregularities, including fraud, on the basis that we were unable  
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence due to the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of  
opinion section of our report.  
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - the Authority’s  
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use  
of resources  
 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - the Authority’s arrangements for securing  
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources  
 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able to  
satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and  
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2025. 
    
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.  
 
Responsibilities of the Authority  
 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and  
effectiveness in its use of resources.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy,  
efficiency and effectiveness in the Authority’s use of resources  
 
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the  
Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of  
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's  
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating  
effectively.  
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance  
issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2024. This guidance sets out the arrangements  
that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit  
Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting  
criteria:  
 
• Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to  
deliver its services;   
 
• Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks;  
and   
 
• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses information about its costs and  
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.  
 
We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these  
three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and  
commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we have considered whether there is  
evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements.  
 
  
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Delay in certification of  
completion of the audit  
 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Cumbria Commissioner Fire and  
Rescue Authority for the year  ended 31 March 2025 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit  
and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have received confirmation from the  
National Audit Office the audit of the Whole of Government Accounts is complete for the year ended 31 March  
2025. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements for the year  
ended 31 March 2025.  
 
 
Use of our report  
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local  
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 85 of the Statement of Responsibilities of  
Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been  
undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them  
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in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or  
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit  
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  
 
  
 

Elizabeth Luddington  
  
Elizabeth Luddington, Key Audit Partner  
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor  
 
  
 
Manchester  
25 February 2026 
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1.1 Introduction 
The Authority must prepare and publish its Statement of Accounts annually. Their purpose is to give 
electors, local taxpayers, Authority Members, employees, and other interested parties clear 
information about the Authority’s finances. 

 
The aim is to provide information on: 

• the cost of providing Authority services in 2024/25. 

• how these services were paid for. 

• what assets the Authority owned at the end of the financial year; and 

• what was owed, to and by, the Authority at the end of the financial year. 
 

This narrative report gives a guide to the most important matters included in the Statement of 
Accounts. The Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been produced by 
the Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) and consists of the following: - 

 
(i) The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

This sets out the respective responsibilities of the Authority and the Chief Finance 
Officer (S.151 Officer) for preparing the Statement of Accounts. 
 

(ii) The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to 
be funded from taxation.  Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in 
accordance with statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting 
cost.  The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
(Note 4.12) and the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement (CIES) is prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Code of Practice 2024/25 and is reported in the management reporting 
segments used by the Authority.  The segments that are used throughout the 
accounts and include the following services. 
 
 

Strategic 
Management 

Corporate 
Services 

Service Delivery Response 

    

Strategic 
Management 

Finance Technical 
Services 

Response 

 Estates Fire Protection  

 Legal Fire Prevention  

 ICT Services Learning & 
Development 

 

 People & Talent Operational 
Planning 

 

 Transformation   

 Safety & 
Assurance 

  

 Pensions   

  
(iii) The Movement in Reserves Statement 

This Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the 
different reserves held by the authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that 
can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable 
reserves’.  The Statement shows how the movement in year of the Authority’s 
reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to 

SECTION 1 – NARRATIVE REPORT 
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return the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year.  The Net 
Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the 
year following those adjustments. 
 

(iv) The Balance Sheet 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and 
liabilities recognised by the Authority. The net assets of the Authority (assets less 
liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Authority. Reserves are reported 
in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those 
reserves that the Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to 
maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for 
example capital reserves that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay 
debt). The second category of reserves are those that the Authority is not able to use 
to provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised 
gains and losses (for example the revaluation reserve), where amounts would only 
become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold 
timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line “adjustments 
between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations”. 
 

(v) The Cash Flow Statement 
The Cash Flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Authority during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Authority 
generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as, 
operating, investing, and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising 
from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the 
Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of 
services provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which 
cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the 
Authority’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are 
useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) 
to the Authority. 

 
(vi) Notes to the Accounts 

These explain in more detail some of the more significant entries in the core financial 
statements and include details of the significant Accounting Policies used in the 
preparation of the accounts. 

 
(vii) Firefighters Pension Scheme Accounts 

The financial statements summarise the transactions of the Cumbria Firefighters 
Pension scheme and the net assets. They do not take account of the obligations to 
pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the scheme year. 

 
(viii) The Annual Governance Statement 

This explains the framework within which internal control has been managed and 
reviewed by the Authority during the year of account. 

.   

1.2 About the Authority 
The Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (Fire & Rescue Authority) Order 2022 created a 
shadow Fire & Rescue Authority for the period beginning on 1st January 2023 and ending on the 1st 
April 2023, under section 4A of the 2004 Fire & Rescue Service Act, for the purposes of Chapter 4 
(setting the precept) and Chapter 4ZA (referendums relating to council tax increases) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
The remainder of the Order came into force on 1st April 2023 and established a new Fire & Rescue 
Authority for the area covered by Cumbria County Council which dissolved on the 1st April 2023 and 
was replaced by two unitary authorities: Cumberland and Westmorland & Furness. 
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In compliance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, the County Council balance 
sheet has been disaggregated as of 1 April 2023.  This disaggregation provided the Fire & Rescue 
Authority with its share of the opening balances as at 1 April 2023 and these were incorporated into 
the values presented for 2023/24 as the comparator year to this reporting period (2024/25).   

 
(i) Group Boundary 

The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (Fire and Rescue Authority) 
Order 2022 utilised existing legislation (Specifically Section 4A of the Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004) to create a new corporation sole; Cumbria Commissioner Fire and 
Rescue Authority (CCFRA), a role which is held by the Police, Fire and Commissioner, 
but acting as CCFRA. This legislation outlines the key responsibilities for oversight and 
ensuring good governance within the CCFRA. 
 
This reflects that the government provides funding to CCFRA and is ultimately 
responsible for the CCFRA.  As such, the CCFRA Accounts are included within the 
Whole of Government Accounts, which is the consolidation of over 9,000 public sector 
bodies, including central and local government and public corporations such as the 
Bank of England, to provide the most complete and accurate picture of the UK's public 
finances. 
 
Therefore, whilst there is some commonality within the Office of the Police, Fire and 
Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (OPFCC), Chief Constable and CCFRA, they are 
three separate corporations sole, with Fire and Police created under separate 
legislation and with the responsibility to set up and maintain separate “Funds” for each 
organisation: with separate legal responsibilities and no ability to vire funds between 
them. As set out by CIPFA, there is not a requirement for the CCFRA Accounts to be 
included within the OPFCC group accounts. 

 
The Business Case for the Governance transfer included maintaining separate 
management arrangements and operational functions for each service but working 
towards sharing of some support services and buildings where it makes sense to 
provide better value for money for the public of Cumbria. This direction of travel towards 
shared support teams continues. The accounts of Fire and Policing are operated 
separately in line with the legislation. 

 
The arrangements outlined in the legislation result in the PFCC having some 
influence over some policing relationships with CCFRA, and therefore there is a 
requirement to disclose the nature of the transactions between OPFCC and the 
CCFRA and this is provided within the related parties note within the statement of 
accounts. Most of this note relates to governance services provided by the Office of 
the PFCC to Fire, and charges for services and shared staff providing services to Fire 
and Policing. 

 
 

(ii) Vision and Values 
Our Vision is  

“A community focussed, professional and trusted fire and rescue 
service that makes Cumbria a safer place for all”.   

 
In delivering this vision the Service adheres to the National Fire Chiefs 
Council(NFCC) Code of Ethics and champions the following values. 
 

•  Putting our communities first – We put the interest of the public, the 
community, and service users first. 

•  Dignity and respect – We treat people with dignity and respect, making 
decisions objectively based on evidence, without discrimination or bias. 
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•  Equality, diversity, and inclusion – We continually recognise and promote 
the value of equality, diversity, and inclusion, both within the fire and rescue 
service and the wider communities in which we serve. 

•  Integrity - We act with integrity including being open, honest, and consistent 
in everything that we do. 

•  Leadership - We are all positive role models, always demonstrating flexible 
and resilient leadership. 

 
  

Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service will always prioritise attending emergency fire and 
rescue incidents, but the Service also plays a critical role in making our communities 
safer in other ways.  Therefore, the key priorities for Cumbria Fire and Rescue 
Service are: 
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(iii) Community Risk Management Plan 
The CRMP process enables the Service to be clear about the levels of risk that exist, 
influencing our prevention, protection and response arrangements and how we ensure we 
have the right people with the right skills and support to deliver our service.  
 
The process allows us to identify opportunities to change and match our resources in the 
most efficient and effective way. The CRMP both demonstrates how we are delivering 
against the Police Fire and Crime Commissioners Fire Plan and sets the strategic framework 
within which further strategies within CFRS will be developed. 
 
The current plan runs from 2024 – 2028 and contains objectives against People, Prevention, 
Protection, Response and a range of corporate functions. 

 

The full CRMP can be found at: CRMP 2024-2028. 
 

(iv) Workforce 
 
The breakdown of the workforce in full time equivalents as at 31 March 2025 is as follows: 

 

Type of staff Female Male Non Binary Total 

On-call 33 316 0 349 

Wholetime 51 207 0 258 

Corporate 49 30 0 79 

Total 133 553 0 686 

 
 
(v) Governance Arrangements 
 
A summary of the key elements of the systems and processes that comprised the Authority’s 
governance arrangements, are set out in the Annual Governance Statement that 
accompanies the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement provides a summary of the arrangements established by 
the Authority to ensure legislative requirements, governance principles and management 
processes are within the law and proper standards and that public money is safeguarded, 
properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  
 
The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) sets the priorities for the Service, 
identified by the public via consultation, which is then condensed into a Fire Plan and 
delegated to the Chief Fire Officer who decides how these priorities are achieved 
operationally. The PFCC is the voice of the public and ensures that residents are aware of 
what CFRS delivers and that any issues raised by the public are heard by the Service. As 
the representative of the public, the PFCC holds the Chief Fire Officer to account. The 
annual budget for the Service is also a responsibility of the Police, Fire and Crime 
Commissioner, including council tax. 
 
 
(vi) Additional Home Office Funding 
 
In 2023/24 the Authority was awarded £4.4million of additional one-off support from Home 
Office to assist with the disaggregation from the County Council and the transition to the 
PFCC governance arrangements.  This funding was provided as a Revenue DEL grant, 
however, £2million has been utilised to provide Direct Revenue Financing in 2023/24 and 
2024/25 of the capital programme.  The balance of the grants has been held in an 
earmarked reserve and are released when expenditure is incurred. 
 

https://www.cumbriafire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2024-05/Community%20Risk%20Management%20Plan%202024-2028.pdf
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At the end of 2024/25, £2.254million was utilised in the year for financing capital expenditure 
as well as revenue expenditure on identified projects such as a new HR system, new finance 
system and ICT support. 

 
 

1.3 Non-Financial Performance 
The key achievements in 2024/25 are as follows:   
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1.4 Future Outlook 
The overall balance sheet at the 31st March 2025 remains healthy, which is reflected in the Medium 
Term Financial Forecast, which sets out the revenue budget position until 2029/30 and a capital 
programme, which is fully funded until 2034/35, which will support delivery of the CRMP and Police, 
Fire and Crime Plan.  The current financial position has primarily arisen as a result of positive action 
by the Fire and Rescue Service to maintain stringent budgetary control and contain costs so that 
reserves can be built to a sustainable and resilient level.  
 
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy and 2025/26 budget was approved in the context of the 
Government continuing to afford Commissioners’ flexibility to raise council tax above inflation. 
However, this is accompanied by increasing cost pressures particularly in light of the emergence of 
continued inflationary pressures throughout 2025/26.  
 
Against this background the 2025/26 budget provides £31.497million for Cumbria Fire and Rescue 
Service.   The longer term 10-year capital programme envisages a total investment of £30million 
principally across the estate, fleet and ICT. 
 
The position shown in these accounts shows that unallocated reserves have reached the assessed 
minimum levels to be resilient in the short term, and the MTFP includes plans to build those 
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reserves.  However, there are continuing uncertainties which have the potential to impact negatively 
on the budget in the medium term.   
 
Financial scenario modelling continues to take place on a frequent on-going basis, together with 
development of a savings and efficiency plan.   

 
1.5 2024/25 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
The 2024/25 revenue budget was set within the context of the Authority’s Medium-Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP).  The MTFP provides the financial framework within which the Authority will seek to 
achieve its priorities and highlights any significant factors that will affect the future financial position 
of the Authority.  

 
The MTFP considers four key Financial Principles: 

• Revenue Budget Strategy 

• Council Tax and Business Rates Policy 

• Treasury Management 

• Capital Investment 
 
The MTFP for 2024/25 highlighted that the key risks to the Authority financially in the future were 
uncertainty around funding settlements, uncertainty around Service Level Agreements and further 
disaggregation with the Unitary authorities and pension remedy implications. 

 
Revenue expenditure generally relates to resources which are used within a year and which are 
paid for from council tax, business rates, government grants, fees and charges for services and 
other income received by the Authority.  

 
 

Summary Service Expenditure Comparison of Budget to Actual 
 

The table below shows a comparison of the Authority’s revised budget with its performance for 
2024/25. More detailed information is shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on page 16. 
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The Authority has total usable reserves of £8.736million at 31 March 2025 (£9.820million at 1 April 
2024), of which the total earmarked reserves held are £3.402million (£5.708million at 1 April 2024). 
Reserves relating to CCFRA’s 25% share ownership of North-West Fire Control equate to 
£0.843million on 31 March 2025 (£0.675million on 1 April 2024), further details on these reserves 
can be found at note 4.6.   

 
For 2024/25 the Authority was under-spent by £0.343million against the revised budget.  This 
resulted in an increased contribution to general fund reserves in 2024/25.   

 
The Authority also has other unusable reserves totalling £172.005million on 31 March 2025 
(£199.361million on 1 April 2024).  Certain reserves are used to manage the accounting processes 
for assets and retirement benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Authority. 

 
The table below sets out how the Authority’s earmarked and general fund revenue reserve levels 
compared on 31 March 2025 to those that were forecast when it set its revenue budget in February 
2025. 

 

Budget 
Provisional 

Outturn
Variance

£000 £000 £000

Strategic Management 1,272 1,360 88

Corporate Services 8,104 7,426 (678)

Service Delivery 7,200 6,765 (435)

Response 13,880 14,562 682

Service Expenditure 30,456 30,113 (343)

Total 30,456 30,113 (343)

Transfers to/(from) Reserves

General Fund Reserve 882 1,225 343

PFI Reserve (52) (52) 0

Home Office Grants Reserve (2,254) (2,254) 0

Total Transfer to/(from) Reserves (1,424) (1,081) 343

Financed by:

Precept from Collection Fund (16,713) (16,713) 0

Business Rate Retention (7,640) (7,640) 0

Revenue Support Grant (4,679) (4,679) 0

Total Grants (29,032) (29,032) 0

Total 0 0 0
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Budget reports, including the outturn position summarised above, are prepared on a statutory basis 
(also referred to as the funding basis) reflecting amounts chargeable to the general fund under 
statutory provisions. This differs from the accounting policies (accounting basis) used in preparing 
the financial statements in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 
Details of the adjustments made to Net Expenditure Chargeable to the General Fund (GF), to arrive 
at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) amounts, are summarised in the 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis (see note 4.12 to the financial statements). 

 
 

1.6 Capital Expenditure and Financing 
Capital expenditure relates to spending on the acquisition, creation and enhancement of non-current 
assets. This spending is usually paid for from borrowing, capital receipts from the sale of assets, 
grants and contributions and direct financing from revenue. Capital expenditure also includes items 
such as renovation grants, disabled facilities grants and other grants towards capital expenditure 
incurred by third parties. 

 

(i) Capital Expenditure 
The Authority’s revised capital programme for 2024/25 was approved at £3.768million. 
Overall capital spending for 2024/25, totalled £2.131million, resulting in an underspend of 
£1.637million.  Where projects have not completed in the year, £1.381million has been 
reprofiled to future years and will be the responsibility of the Authority.  The overall 
programme and financing can be summarised as follows: 
 
 
 

Forecast Outturn

31/03/2025 31/03/2025

£000 £000

General Reserves

General Fund 4,748 5,334

4,748 5,334

Earmarked Reserves

PFI 1,862 1,862

Insurance 437 437

Donations 113 113

Estates 46 46

HMICFRS Inspection Reserve 45 45

Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme 160 160

Efficiency & Transformation Reserve 41 41

Home Office Grants Reserve 0 698

2,704 3,402

Total Usable Reserves 7,452 8,736
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1.7 Balance Sheet Analysis 
The Balance Sheet is an important statement for the Authority as it provides details of the overall 
health of the Authority’s finances. The following table summarises the Authority’s financial position 
on 31 March 2025: 

 

 
 

The Authority’s holding of Property, Plant and Equipment has decreased in value in the year from 
£52.745million to £52.559million. 

 
(i) Reserves & Balances 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation between the amount of cash-backed 
reserves held by the Authority on 31 March 2025 and the amount of cash and 
investments it held at 31 March 2025. 
 

£000

Capital Investment on Assets

ICT Schemes 153

Estates Schemes 272

Equipment and PPE Schemes 349

Fleet Schemes 1,357

2,131

£000

Capital Financing

Direct Revenue Financing 1,913

Capital Receipts 218

2,131

2023/24 2024/25

Year on Year 

Change

£000 £000 £000

52,745 Non Current Assets 52,559 (186)

5,410
Net current assets: Debtors, Stock & Cash less short term 

creditors and liabilities
4,855 (555)

(247,696) Long Term Liabilities and Provisions (220,683) 27,013

(189,541) Net (Liabilities) Assets (163,269) 26,272

Represented by:

(9,649) Revenue Reserves (General Fund and Earmarked) (8,736) 913

(171) Other Usable Reserves (Capital) 0 171

199,361 Unusable Reserves 172,005 (27,356)

189,541 Total Reserves 163,269 (26,272)
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N.B the working capital figure presented in the published 2023/24 accounts was incorrect.   
The presented figure of £(1,076k) should have been £(258k). 

 
This table shows that at 31 March 2025 the Authority’s cash balances held in investments 
was made up of its cash-backed reserves and balances (£9.435million) and cash held in 
working capital.  The net position shows that £2.965million can be represented by a position 
of under borrowing.  The actual borrowing the Authority held on 31 March 2025 was 
£7.5million plus £12.924m in PFI liabilities, the actual borrowing requirement the Authority 
had at 31 March 2025 was £23.092million (Note 4.32).  In effect the Authority is utilising its 
own cash balances to support its borrowing requirement. 

 
(ii) Borrowing 
 
The Authority has powers to borrow money for capital purposes under Section 1 of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Authority held a balance of £7.5million of borrowing at 31 March 
2025 (excluding accrued interest at 31 March 2025). No further borrowing was undertaken in 
the year.  
 
(iii) Revaluation of Assets 
 
A revaluation of all Property assets has been undertaken as at 31 March 2025.  Included in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within Services are net upward 
revaluations totalling £0.483million in relation to Property, Plant and Equipment.   

 
(iv) Defined Benefit Pensions Asset/Liability 
 
The Authority offers retirement pensions to its staff under a statutory scheme and also 
makes contributions on their behalf. Although the pension benefits are not payable until 
employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to make the payments and must account 
for them in the year in which the future entitlements are earned. This commitment is 
compared with the pension fund assets (investments) and the net amount is included in the 
accounts as an asset or liability.      

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(3,266) General Fund Balance (4,491)

(171) Capital Reserves 0

(5,708) Earmarked Reserves (3,402)

27 Collection Fund Adj Account (91)

(178) Provisions (608)

(675) NW Fire Control 25% Share - GF Reserves (843)

(9,971) Amount available for Investment (9,435)

Investments

0 Short Term 1,000

6,711 Cash & Cash Equivalents 19,001

6,711 Total Investments 20,001

(3,260) Surplus Monies / (Internal Borrowing) 10,566

(258) Working Capital (13,531)

(3,518) Surplus Monies / (Internal Borrowing) (2,965)
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At 31 March 2025, the Authority’s share of plan assets in the Cumbria Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) exceeded the Authority’s defined benefit pension obligation 
(calculated in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 and the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting) by £0.151m (i.e. a net pension asset). This compares with a net 
pension liability on 31 March 2024 of £0.176m.  
 
Under the Code of Practice and IAS 19, measurement of a net defined benefit asset is 
limited to the lower of the surplus in the defined benefit plan and the asset ceiling. The asset 
ceiling is defined as the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. As there is no 
unconditional right to a refund, available economic benefits have been assessed with 
reference to reductions in future contributions and future service costs, in accordance with 
IFRIC 14. On 31 March 2025, as the estimated present value of minimum funding 
contributions exceed the estimated present value of future service costs there is therefore 
deemed to be no economic benefit and the asset ceiling is calculated as £5.414m.  
 
The adjustment to the defined benefit plan asset as a result of applying the asset ceiling test 
is reported as part of the remeasurement of the net defined benefit pension liability/asset 
appearing in the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure section of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 

1.8 Cash Flows 
During 2024/25 the net change in cash and cash equivalents was £12.231million.  
 

1.9 Inter-Company Transactions 
The Authority has a number of transactions that between the Fire Service and the Fire Service 
Pension Fund.  These transactions are accounted for as inter-company transactions due to all 
transactions being received into the Fire Service bank account.  The balance of amounts owed to 
the pension fund account is shown in the Fire Service balance sheet as a net creditor.  For 2024/25 
this totalled £6.287million. 

 

1.10 Value for Money 
The Authority recognises its responsibility to achieve Value for Money (VFM) in service delivery. It 
seeks to incorporate VFM principles in delivering services by taking account of costs, quality of 
services and the local context.  

 
The accounts present a true and fair view of the position of the Cumbria Commissioner Fire and 
Rescue Authority accounts as of 31 March 2025 and its income and expenditure for the year there 
ended 

 

1.11 Prior Period Adjustments 
The 2023/24 accounts did not receive a full audit due to timings around the backstop date.  A cold 
review was undertaken by Grant Thornton which helped to identify areas where further examination 
may be needed. Following consideration of this review and following a more comprehensive process 
to prepare the 2024/25 accounts, there have been some areas, where notes and information 
provided in the 2023/24 accounts have been updated.  Where these have been necessary, an 
explanation is provided by each note to the accounts.  None of the amendments affect the main 
financial statements or the financial position of the Authority. 
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The accounts present a true and fair view of the position of the Cumbria Commissioner Fire 
and Rescue Authority accounts as of 31 March 2025 and its income and expenditure for the 
year there ended 
 

Signed:  
 
 
  David Allen 
  Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner 
  Cumbria Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

Signed:          
 
  Steven Tickner 
  Chief Finance Officer (S.151) 
 
 

Signed:  
 
  Paul Hancock 
  Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
Date:  24 February 2026 
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SECTION 2 - STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 

 
2.1 The Responsibilities of the Authority 
The Authority is required to: 

 

• make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 
secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs.  In this Authority, that officer is the Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) 

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient, and effective use of resources 
and safeguard its assets; and 

• approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 

2.2 The Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) 
The Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance Accountants)/LASAAC (Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee) Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).  

 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) has: 
 

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

• made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and 

• complied with the local authority Code. 
 

The Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) has also: 
 

• kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

 

2.3 Status of the Statement of Accounts 
The Statement of Accounts accompanying this statement is currently unaudited and therefore may 
be subject to change. 

 

2.4 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Authority at 31 March 2025 and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2025. 

 
 

Signed:  
 
  Steven Tickner 

Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) 
 

Date:  24 February 2026 
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SECTION 3 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS                                            
 
3.1 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

Expenditure Income Net Note Expenditure Income Net

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

1,165 1 1,166 Strategic Management 1,376 (11) 1,365

6,836 (7,943) (1,107) Corporate Services 3,840 (3,870) (30)

(230) (127) (357) Service Delivery 6,519 (430) 6,089

14,848 (29) 14,819 Response 14,642 (9) 14,633

1,438 (1,429) 9 NW Fire Control - 25% Share 2,073 (1,425) 648

24,057 (9,527) 14,530 Cost of Services 28,450 (5,745) 22,705

18 0 18 Other Operating Expenditure 4.9 5 (47) (42)

13,263 (597) 12,666 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 4.10 13,256 (892) 12,364

0 (27,325) (27,325) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 4.11 0 (30,191) (30,191)

37,338 (37,449) (111) (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 4.14 41,711 (36,875) 4,836

  

(1,225) Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets 4.31 1,333

(6,631) Remeasurements of the Net Defined Benefit Liability / (Asset) 4.34 (32,441)

(7,856) Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (31,108)

(7,967) Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (26,272)

2023/24 2024/25
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3.2 Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

 
 

 

2024/25 Note

General 

Fund 

Balances

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grant 

Unapplied

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Authority 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2024 9,649 171 0 9,820 (199,361) (189,541)

Movement in reserves during 2024/25

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services (4,836) 0 0 (4,836) 31,108 26,272

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 

basis under regulations
4.5 3,923 (171) 0 3,752 (3,752) 0

Increase/(Decrease) in Year (913) (171) 0 (1,084) 27,356 26,272

Balance at 31 March 2025 8,736 0 0 8,736 (172,005) (163,269)

2023/24 Note

General 

Fund 

Balances

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grant 

Unapplied

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Authority 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2023 5,744 162 27 5,933 (203,441) (197,508)

Movement in reserves during 2023/24

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 111 0 111 7,856 7,967

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 

basis under regulations
4.5 3,794 9 (27) 3,776 (3,776) 0

Increase/(Decrease) in Year 3,905 9 (27) 3,887 4,080 7,967

Balance at 31 March 2024 9,649 171 0 9,820 (199,361) (189,541)



CUMBRIA COMMISSIONER FIRE AND SAFETY AUTHORITY – UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25 

18 

3.3 Balance Sheet 

 
 

Note

£000 £000 £000 £000

Property, Plant and Equipment

Operational Assets

44,155 Other Land & Building 4.22 43,219

8,149 Vehicles & Plant 4.22 9,133

Non Operational Assets

192 Intangibles 4.22 207

249 Assets Under Construction 0

52,745 Total Property, Plant and Equipment 52,559

52,745 Total Long Term Assets 52,559

Current Assets

0 Short Term Investments 1,000

6,770 Cash and Cash Equivalents 4.27 19,001

758 Inventories 4.26 976

11,239 Short Term Debtors 4.25 4,086

39 Payments in Advance 90

11,278 Total Short-Term Debtors 4,176

18,806 Total Current Assets 25,153

Current Liabilities

(27) Provisions 4.30 (340)

(86) Short Term Borrowing (Accrued Interest) (85)

(492) Short Term PFI Liability 4.33 (584)

(12,422) Short Term Creditors 4.28 (18,098)

(369) Receipts in Advance 4.29 (1,191)

(12,791) Total Short-Term Creditors (19,289)

(13,396) Total Current Liabilities (20,298)

Long Term Liabilities

(12,522) Long Term PFI Liabilities 4.33 (12,924)

(7,500) Long Term Borrowing (7,500)

(151) Provisions (268)

(176) Other Long Term Liabilities (Pensions - LGPS) 4.33 (151)

(227,347) Other Long Term Liabilities (Pensions - Firefighters) 4.33 (199,840)

(247,696) Total Long Term Liabilities (220,683)

(189,541) Net Assets/(Liabilities) (163,269)

Usable Reserves 4.6

(171) Usable Capital receipts 0

(3,941) General Fund Reserves (5,334)

(5,708) Earmarked Reserves (3,402)

(9,820) Total Usable Reserves (8,736)

Unusable reserves 4.31

227,523 Pension Reserve 199,991

497 Employee Benefit Reserve 606

(16,679) Capital Adjustment Account (18,155)

27 Collection Fund Adjustment Account (91)

(12,007) Revaluation Reserve (10,346)

199,361 Total Unusable Reserves 172,005

189,541 Total Reserves 163,269

31 March

2025

31 March

2024
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 I certify that the Statement of Accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

the Authority at 31 March 2025 and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 
2025. 

 
 These financial statements replace the unaudited financial statements confirmed by the 

Chief Finance Officer on 30 June 2025 and were authorised for issue on 24 February 2026. 
 

 

 

Signed:  
 
   Steven Tickner 

Chief Finance Officer (S.151 Officer) 
 

Date:  24 February 2026 
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3.4 Cash Flow Statement 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 Note 2024/25

£000  £000

(111) Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services 4,836

(8,692)
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-

cash movements
4.37 (19,758)

36
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services that are investing and financing activities
4.37 1,042

   

(8,767) Net cash flows (inflows)/outflows from Operating Activities (13,880)

1,882 Investing Activities 4.38 2,051

492 Financing Activities 4.38 (402)

(6,393) Net (increase) or decrease in cash and cash equivalents (12,231)

377 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 6,770

6,770 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 19,001
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SECTION 4 – NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 
4.0 Accounting Policies 
 
4.0.1 General Principles 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the 2024/25 financial year 
and its financial position at 31 March 2025. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 (as 
amended) require the Authority to prepare for each financial year, a statement of accounts in 
accordance with proper practices. Under section 21(2) of the Local Government Act 2003, these 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2024/25 (the Code), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 
 
 
4.0.2 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. In particular: 
 

• Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of 
goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service 
recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract.  

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap 
between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as 
inventories on the Balance Sheet. 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are 
made. 

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively 
as income and expenditure based on the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 
instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where 
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to 
revenue for the income that might not be collected. 
 

4.0.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three 
months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management. 
 
4.0.4 Exceptional Items 
When items of income and expense are material and out of the ordinary, their nature and amount is 
disclosed separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of 
the Authority’s financial performance. 
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4.0.5 Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current 
and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events 
and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or financial performance.  
 
Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 
applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
4.0.6 Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the 
cost of holding non-current assets during the year: 

• depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service. 

• revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 
accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off. 

• amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service. 
 
The Authority is not required to raise council tax to cover these costs but is required to make an 
annual contribution to reduce its overall borrowing requirement. This is known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision and is calculated on an asset life basis at the start of the financial year. 
Depreciation, impairment losses, revaluation losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by a 
revenue provision in the Movement in Reserves Statement by way of an adjusting transaction with 
the Capital Adjustment Account for the difference between the two. 
 
4.0.7 Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable during Employment  
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include such benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and flexitime, bonuses and non-monetary benefits 
(for example cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
employees render service to the Authority. The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
requires the Authority to recognise the amount of untaken annual leave at the 31st March as a liability 
which is reflected on the Balance Sheet. To ensure consistency annual leave costs have been 
reflected in the year in which the annual leave should have been taken.   
 
Termination Benefits  
Termination benefits are amounts payable because of a decision by the Authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or of an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for those benefits. These are charged on an Accruals basis to the CIES at 
the earlier of when the Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the 
Authority recognises costs for a restructuring.  
 
When termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the 
General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the Pension Fund 
or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. 
In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts 
payable but unpaid at the year-end. 
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Retirement Benefits  
Employees of the Authority are members of the following pensions schemes:  
 

• The 1992, 2006, 2015 and Modified Firefighters’ Pension Schemes (FPS) - these are unfunded 
schemes, which means that there are no investment assets built up to meet the pensions 
liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet the actual payments as they fall due. The 
Authority is required by legislation to operate a Pension Fund, with the amounts that must be 
paid into or out of the Pension Fund being specified by regulation. The Authority set up a 
Pension Fund on 1 April 2006 from which pension payments are made and into which 
contributions, from the Authority and employees, are received. The Pension Fund receives a 
top-up grant from the Government equal to the deficit each year, with any surplus on the 
Pension Fund being repaid to the Government. The Pension Fund is shown separately in the 
Accounts.  

• The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for support staff, administered by the 
Cumbria Pension Fund, is a funded scheme, which means that the Authority and employees 
pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities 
with investment Assets.  

 
The above schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), 
earned as employees work for the Authority. They are accounted for in accordance with the 
requirements for Defined Benefits Schemes, based on the principle that an organisation should 
account for retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, even though this may be many 
years into the future.  
 
A pensions Asset or Liability is recognised in the Balance Sheet, made up of the net position of 
retirement Liabilities and pension scheme Assets. Retirement Liabilities are measured on an actuarial 
basis using the projected unit method, by assessing the future payments that will be made in relation 
to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates and projections of earnings for current employees. Pension scheme assets 
(LGPS only) attributable to the Authority are included at their Fair Value. The Authority currently has 
a net pensions liability, and this is matched in the Balance Sheet by a Pensions Reserve.  
 
The change in net pensions Liability during the year is analysed into the following components:  
Service cost comprising:  
 

• Current service cost – the increase in Liabilities because of service earned by employees in 
the current year. This is charged to services within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement  

• Past service cost – the increase in Liabilities because of a scheme amendment or curtailment 
whose effect relates to service earned in earlier years. This is part of the services line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

• Net interest on the net defined benefit Liability – the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit Liability that arises from the passage of time. This is calculated by applying the 
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to 
the net defined benefit Liability at the end of the period, considering any changes in the net 
defined benefit Liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. This 
is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
Remeasurements comprising:  
 

• The return on plan assets (LGPS only) – this excludes amounts included in net interest on the 
net defined benefit Liability and is charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 

• Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions Liability that arise because events 
have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the 
actuaries have updated their assumptions. This is charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  
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• Contributions paid / benefits paid – cash paid as employer’s contribution by the Authority either 
to LGPS or directly to pensioners to reduce the scheme Liabilities.  

 
Statutory provisions require that the amount charged to the General Fund Balance is that payable by 
the Authority to Pensions Funds or directly to pensioners during the year rather than that calculated 
under accounting standards. This means that an appropriation to or from the Pensions Reserve is 
done within the Movement in Reserves Statement to replace the notional sums for retirement benefits 
with the actual pensions costs. The negative balance on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the 
beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis 
of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.  
 
On 31st March 2022, following the Sergeant and McCloud ruling for Pensions Age Discrimination, both 
the 1992 & 2006 schemes were closed and all members of these schemes will be transferred to the 
2015 pension scheme. 
 
Discretionary Benefits 

The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the 
event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member 
of staff are accrued in the year of decision and accounted for using the same policies as are applied 
to the LGPS. 
 
4.0.8 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised 
for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 
 

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a 
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their 
estimated financial effect. 

  
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
4.0.9 Financial Instruments 

 
Financial Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are 
carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are 
based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. 

 
(i) Borrowing 

Borrowing is classed as either a long-term liability, repayable after 12 months or longer, 
or a current liability if it is repayable within a 12-month period. Borrowing is shown in the 
Balance Sheet at amortised cost using the effective interest rate that applies to the 
individual loans comprising the total borrowing held by the Authority. For borrowing held 
by the Authority, this means that the amount shown in the balance sheet represents the 
outstanding principal repayable to the lender (plus accrued interest) and the interest on 
the borrowing that is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
is the amount payable in the year under the loan agreement.  
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(ii) Creditors 

Creditors are recognised when a contractual arrangement is entered into between the 
Authority and a supplier to provide goods and services for an agreed price. The value of 
the creditors recognised in the balance sheet represents the current value of the 
outstanding liabilities of the Authority on 31 March as a proxy for amortised cost.  

 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 
authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial assets held by 
the authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount 
receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model 
The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost 
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model also applies to lease 
receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) 
held by the Authority. 
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take 
place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in 
assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially 
recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or 
remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses. 
 
Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 
Financial assets that are measured at Fair Value through Profit and Loss are recognised on the 
Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are 
recognised as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.  
 
The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques:  

• instruments with quoted market prices – the market price  

• other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis.  
 
The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the following three 
levels:  

• Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the 
authority can access at the measurement date.  

• Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset, either directly or indirectly.  

• Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset.  
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
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4.0.10 Government Grants and Contributions 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third-party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable 
assurance that: 

• the Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and 

• the grants or contributions will be received. 
 

Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the 
transferor. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is 
credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and 
Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they 
are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the 
grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied 
reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the 
Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
4.0.11 Inventories and Long-Term Contracts 
Stocks are reflected in the balance sheet at cost prices. This is a departure from the requirements of 
the Code and IAS 2 Inventories, which requires stocks to be shown at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value where they are acquired through an exchange transaction.  
 
4.0.12 Leases 
The authority classifies contracts as leases based on their substance. Contracts and parts of 
contracts, including those described as contracts for services, are analysed to determine whether 
they convey the right to control the use of an identified asset, through rights both to obtain 
substantially all the economic benefits or service potential from that asset and to direct its use. 
The Code expands the scope of IFRS 16 Leases to include arrangements with nil consideration, 
peppercorn or nominal payments. 
  
Initial measurement 
Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets with a corresponding liability at the date from which 
the leased asset is available for use (or the IFRS 16 transition date, if later). The leases are typically 
for fixed periods in excess of one year but may have extension options. 
 
The authority initially recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments, 
discounting by applying the authority’s incremental borrowing rate wherever the interest rate 
implicit in the lease cannot be determined. Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability include: 

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the 
 prevailing index or rate as at the adoption date 
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee 
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the authority is reasonably certain to 

exercise 
• lease payments in an optional renewal period if the authority is reasonably certain to 

exercise an extension option 
• penalties for early termination of a lease, unless the authority is reasonably certain not to 

terminate early. 
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The right-of-use asset is measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for any 
prepayments made, plus any direct costs incurred to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 
or restore the underlying asset on the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
However, for peppercorn, nominal payments or nil consideration leases, the asset is measured at 
fair value. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured using the fair value model. The authority considers 
the cost model to be a reasonable proxy except for: 

• assets held under non-commercial leases 
• leases where rent reviews do not necessarily reflect market conditions 
• leases with terms of more than five years that do not have any provision for rent reviews 
• leases where rent reviews will be at periods of more than five years. 

 
For these leases, the asset is carried at a revalued amount. In these financial statements, right-of-
use assets held under index-linked leases have been adjusted for changes in the relevant index, 
while assets held under peppercorn or nil consideration leases have been valued using market 
prices or rentals for equivalent land and properties. 
 
The right-of-use asset is depreciated straight-line over the shorter period of remaining lease term 
and useful life of the underlying asset as at the date of adoption. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 
 
The liability is remeasured when: 

• there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in index or rate 
• there is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 

residual value guarantee 
• the authority changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 

termination option, or 
• there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

 
When such a remeasurement occurs, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset, with any further adjustment required from remeasurement being recorded 
in the income statement. 
 
 
Low value and short lease exemption 
As permitted by the Code, the authority excludes leases: 

• for low-value items that cost less than £5,000 when new, provided they are not highly 
dependent on or integrated with other items, and 

• with a term shorter than 12 months (comprising the non-cancellable period plus any 
extension options that the authority is reasonably certain to exercise and any termination 
options that the authority is reasonably certain not to exercise). 

 
Lease expenditure 
Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement includes interest, straight 
line depreciation, any asset impairments and changes in variable lease payments not included in 
the measurement of the liability during the period in which the triggering event occurred. Lease 
payments are debited against the liability. Rentals for leases of low-value items or shorter than 12 
months are expensed. 
 
Depreciation and impairments are not charges against council tax, as the cost of non-current 
assets are fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
therefore, appropriated to the capital adjustment account from the General Fund balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
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The authority as lessor 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Finance leases 
Where the authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, 
the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether property, plant and equipment 
or assets held for sale) is written off to the other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the 
authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in 
the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease 
debtor (together with any premiums received), and 
• finance income (credited to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not 
permitted by statute to increase the General Fund balance and is required to be treated as a capital 
receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund balance to the 
capital receipts reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation 
to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted 
out of the General Fund balance to the deferred capital receipts reserve in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the 
disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital 
receipts are transferred to the capital receipts reserve. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non‑current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
therefore appropriated to the capital adjustment account from the General Fund balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Operating leases 
Where the authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, 
the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the other operating 
expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease or where this is initiated by a service to the individual 
service, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the 
commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease term 
on the same basis as rental income. 
 
4.0.13 Property, Plant and Equipment 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 
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Recognition 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accrual’s basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver 
future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 
expense when it is incurred. 
 
De-minimis levels have been set at: 
  

• £5,000 for expenditure on individual items of vehicles, plant, and equipment. 

• £20,000 for expenditure on land, buildings, and other structures. 
 
Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 

• the purchase prices. 

• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
 

The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction. 
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value unless the 
acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows 
of the Authority). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the 
acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Authority. 
 
Donated assets are measured initially at current value. The difference between fair value and any 
consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement unless the donation has been made 
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account. Where 
gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out 
of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

• assets under construction – historic cost 

• operational buildings – Depreciated Replacement Cost 

• surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated at highest 
and best use from a market participant’s perspective. 

• all other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset 
in its existing use (existing use value – EUV). 

 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an 
asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value.   
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical 
cost basis is used as a proxy for current value. 
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure 
that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end. 
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised 
gains.  
 
Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where 
they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service. 
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Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by: 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains) 

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of 
its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairment 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains) 

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original 
loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets that are not yet 
available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Deprecation is calculated on the following bases: 
 
 

Asset Category Rate Basis 
   
Buildings 14-60 Straight Line 
Vehicles, Plant, furniture & Equipment 1-19 Straight Line 
   

 
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current 
value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based 
on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
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Componentisation 
The Authority has a policy on componentisation where any asset with a Gross Book Value of more 
than £2.5million and is subject to depreciation will be considered for componentisation where a 
component is deemed to be more than 5% of the assets value.  This will primarily apply to buildings 
and the major components to be considered will be: 
 
 

 
If there is no material difference in the depreciation charge from componentising to not  
componentising, then the asset will not be split on the balance sheet. 
 
4.0.14 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal or constructive 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the Authority may 
be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment 
of compensation. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority becomes aware of the obligation, and are 
measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties. 
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance 
Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes 
less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement 
than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from 
another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant 
service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Authority settles the 
obligation. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible asset 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Authority. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 
 
 

Component 
Heating and Ventilation System 
Electrical 
Windows and External Doors 
Roofing  
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4.0.15 Reserves 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in  
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 
it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then 
appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that 
there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept managing the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 
instruments, retirement, and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the 
Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 
 
4.0.16 VAT 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from His 
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 
4.0.17 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Council Tax and the non-domestic rates income included in the CIES will show the accrued 
income for the year. The difference between the income included in the CIES and the amount 
required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is held in the Collection Fund Adjustment 
Account and included as a reconciling item in the ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations’ reconciliation. 
 
The Authority’s Balance Sheet shows the proportion of surplus/deficit of the Billing Authorities 
Collection Fund in the Debtors/Creditors balance. The Authority also shows the attributable share of 
the impairment allowance for doubtful debts and a provision for non-domestic rates appeals. 
 
4.0.18 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) PFI transactions are treated in the Authority’s accounts in 
accordance with latest recommended practice of Control of Assets (IFRIC12 – Service concession 
arrangements).  
 
PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the 
fixed assets needed to provide the services passes to the PFI contractor. As the Authority is 
deemed to control the services that are provided under its PFI scheme and the ownership of the 
fixed assets will pass to the Authority at the end of the contract for no additional charge, the 
Authority carries the fixed assets used under the contract on the Balance Sheet.  
 
Non-current assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way 
as property, plant and equipment owned by the Authority. The amounts payable to the PFI operators 
each year (known as Unitary Charges) are analysed into five elements:  

• Fair value of the services received during the year – debited to the relevant service in 
the CIES  

• Finance costs – an interest charge of an agreed % on the outstanding Balance Sheet 
liability, debited to Interest Payable and Similar Charges in the CIES  

• Contingent rent – increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the 
contract, debited to Interest Payable and Similar Charges in the CIES  

• Payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards 
the PFI operator  

• Lifecycle replacement costs (regular planned refurbishments) – debited to the relevant 
service in the CIES  
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4.1 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been 
adopted. 

The Authority has considered the impact of accounting changes that will be required by any new 
accounting standards that have been issued but not yet adopted by the Code for 204/25. These 
changes relate to: 

• IAS 21 – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rate (Lack of 
Exchangeability) issued in August 2023.   
The amendments to IA21 clarify how an entity should assess whether a currency is 
exchangeable and how it should determine a spot exchange rate when 
exchangeability is lacking, as well as require the disclosure of information that enables 
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not being 
exchangeable. 

 
It is very unlikely that Cumbria Fire and Rescue will be impacted by this standard. 

 

• IFRS17 Insurance Contracts issued in May 2017. 
IFRS17 replaces IFRS4 and sets out principles for recognition, measurement and 
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts. 
 
It is very unlikely that Cumbria Fire and Rescue will be impacted by this standard 
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4.2 Critical Judgements made in applying Accounting Policies 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 4.0, the Authority has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. 
 
The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 
Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income, and expenses. Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements are described below: 

 

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions 

Property, Plant 
& Equipment 
(£52.559m at 
31.03.2025) 

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are 
dependent on assumptions about the level of 
repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in 
relation to individual assets. The current 
economic climate makes it uncertain that the 
Authority will be able to sustain its current 
spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing 
into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets. 

If the useful life of an asset is 
reduced, depreciation increases 
and the carrying amount of the 
asset falls. Based on remaining 
asset lives, it is estimated that the 
annual depreciation charge for 
operational assets will increase by 
£242,000 per year that useful lives 
of individual assets were to be 
reduced by 1-year. However, 
statutory accounting requirements 
mean that any increase in the 
depreciation charge would not 
impact on the General Fund.   

Operational 
Land and 
Buildings -
Current value 
measurements 

(£43.219m as at 
31.03.2025) 

 

 

Where there is no market-based evidence of 
current value because of the specialist nature of 
an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is 
used as an estimate of current value. Significant 
unobservable inputs used in the current value 
measurement of property using the cost (DRC) 
approach include assumptions relating to 
location, physical deterioration and all relevant 
forms of obsolescence and optimisation. 

Significant changes in any of the 
unobservable inputs would result in 
a significantly lower or higher 
current value measurement of 
operational land and buildings. A 
1% change in asset values would 
have an impact of £0.413m. 

LGPS Pensions 

Liability/Asset 

(£23.303m 
gross liability at 
31.03.2025 
excluding the 
asset ceiling 
adjustment) 

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 
depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate used, the rate at 
which salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and 
expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm 
of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the 
Authority with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied.  

A sensitivity analysis for each 
significant actuarial assumption as 
of the end of the reporting period, 
showing how the defined benefit 
obligation would have been affected 
by changes in the relevant actuarial 
assumption that were reasonably 
possible at that date is set out in 
note 4.34.  

Firefighters 
Pension Liability 
(£199.840m at 
31.03.25) 

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 
depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate used, the rate at 
which salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and 
expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm 
of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the 
Authority with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied. 

 

A sensitivity analysis for each 
significant actuarial assumption as 
of the end of the reporting period, 
showing how the defined benefit 
obligation would have been affected 
by changes in the relevant actuarial 
assumption that were reasonably 
possible at that date is set out in 
note 4.34.  
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4.3 Joint Operation – North-West Fire Control 
An assessment for Group Accounting requirements has taken place during 2024/25 in respect of 
NW Fire Control Limited. This is in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom Based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 10, 
11 & 12). 

 
It has been determined that the company is governed by Joint Control since unanimous consent 
exists for key decisions and that each Authority has equal voting rights. This joint arrangement has 
been deemed to be a Joint Operation as the parties have rights to the assets, and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement, and on this basis, the Authority’s 25% share of the 
transactions and balances of NW Fire Control Limited have been recognised within the accounts. 
 

4.4 Material Items of Income and Expense 
The Authority had the following items of material income and expenditure in 2024/25: 

 

• Council tax income of £16.767m was credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.   

• Retained Business Rates £7.705m. 

• Grant Income of £9.155m. 
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Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

4.5 Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with the proper accounting practice to the 
resources that are specified by statutory provision as being available to the Authority to meet future 
capital and revenue expenditure. The following sets out a description of the reserves that the 
adjustments are made against. 

 
General Fund Balance 
The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of the Authority are required to be 
paid and out of which all liabilities of the Authority are to be met, except to the extent that statutory 
rules might provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and 
payments should impact on the General Fund Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with 
proper accounting practice.  The General Fund Balance therefore summarises the resources that 
the Authority is statutorily empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit 
of resources that the Authority is required to recover) at the end of the financial year. 

 
Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which 
are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set 
aside to finance historical capital expenditure.  The balance on the reserve shows the resources that 
have yet to be applied for these purposes at year end. 
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2024/25 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Pension Costs 4,946 0 0 4,946 (4,946) 0 (4,946) 0 0 0 0

Pension Costs - NW Fire Control (25% Share) (37) 0 0 (37) 37 0 37 0 0 0 0

Council Tax and NDR (118) 0 0 (118) 118 0 0 0 118 0 0

Holiday Pay 109 0 0 109 (109) 0 0 0 0 (109) 0

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services in relation to 

Capital Expenditure:

Depreciation & Amortisation 2,672 0 0 2,672 (2,672) 0 0 (2,672) 0 0 0

Impairment Losses/(Revaluation Gains) charged to CIES (483) 0 0 (483) 483 0 0 483 0 0 0

Non Current Assets Written off on disposal or sale 4 0 0 4 (4) 0 0 (4) 0 0 0

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 7,093 0 0 7,093 (7,093) 0 (4,909) (2,193) 118 (109) 0

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve (47) 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Statutory Provision for the repayment of debt - (Minimum revenue provision) (1,210) 0 0 (1,210) 1,210 0 0 1,210 0 0 0

Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue Balances (1,913) 0 0 (1,913) 1,913 0 0 1,913 0 0 0

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources (3,170) 47 0 (3,123) 3,123 0 0 3,123 0 0 0

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 0 (218) 0 (218) 218 0 0 218 0 0 0

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0 (218) 0 (218) 218 0 0 218 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 (328) 0 328 0 0 0

Total Adjustments 3,923 (171) 0 3,752 (3,752) (328) (4,909) 1,476 118 (109) 0

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

(Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance 

with statutory requirements:)

Adjustment between Capital Adjustment Account (CAA) and Revaluation Reserve for 

depreciation  that is related to the revaluation balance rather than Historic Cost.
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2023/24 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Pension Costs 4,668 0 0 4,668 (4,668) 0 (4,668) 0 0 0 0

Pension Costs - NW Fire Control (25% Share) (20) 0 0 (20) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax and NDR (201) 0 0 (201) 201 0 0 0 201 0 0

Holiday Pay 262 0 0 262 (262) 0 0 0 0 (262) 0

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services in relation to 

Capital Expenditure:

Depreciation & Amortisation 1,943 0 0 1,943 (1,943) 0 0 (1,943) 0 0 0

Impairment Losses/(Revaluation Gains) charged to CIES (502) 0 0 (502) 502 0 0 502 0 0 0

Capital Grants and Contributions Unapplied credited to CIES 27 0 27 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Non Current Assets Written off on disposal or sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 6,177 0 (27) 6,204 (6,170) 0 (4,668) (1,441) 201 (262) 0

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve (9) 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Statutory Provision for the repayment of debt - (Minimum revenue provision) (1,167) 0 0 (1,167) 1,167 0 0 1,167 0 0 0

Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue Balances (1,207) 0 0 (1,207) 1,207 0 0 1,207 0 0 0

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources (2,383) 9 0 (2,374) 2,374 0 0 2,374 0 0 0

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 (222) 0 222 0 0 0

Total Adjustments 3,794 9 (27) 3,830 (3,796) (222) (4,668) 1,155 201 (262) 0

Adjustment between Capital Adjustment Account (CAA) and Revaluation Reserve for 

depreciation  that is related to the revaluation balance rather than Historic Cost.

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

(Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance 

with statutory requirements:)
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4.6 Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide 
financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to 
meet General Fund expenditure in 2024/25. 
 

 
 

4.7 Nature and Purpose of Usable Reserves 
The Authority is required to maintain several reserves under the provisions of the Code. The 
reserves and their broad functions are as follows.  

 
(a) Earmarked Reserves  

This balance represents monies available to support revenue spending but which the 
Authority have earmarked for specific purposes. Further details on individual 
earmarked reserves are contained within the Authority’s Medium-Term Financial Plan, 
available upon request from the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The amounts set aside as capital fund in 23/24 have been transferred to revenue in 
2024/25 due to the Home Office Grant they relate to being given as a revenue grant.   
 

(b) General Fund Balances  
This balance represents the cumulative surplus available to the Authority to support 
revenue spending and which has not been earmarked for a specific purpose. 
 
 
 

Balance 

31 March

Transfers 

Between 

Reserves

Transfers 

Out

Transfers 

In 

Balance 

31 March

2024 2024/25 2024/25 2024/25 2025

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital:

Capital Fund 0 0 0 0 0

Total Capital Reserves 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue

Insurance Reserve 437 0 0 0 437

Estates Reserve 46 0 0 0 46

PFI Reserve 1,914 0 (52) 0 1,862

Donations (Young Firefighters and other) 113 0 0 0 113

ESMCP (Emergency Services Mobile Communications Project) 160 0 0 0 160

Home Office Grants 2,952 0 (2,254) 0 698

HMICFRS Inspection Reserve 45 0 0 0 45

Efficiency and Transformation Reserve 41 0 0 0 41

Total Revenue Reserves 5,708 0 (2,306) 0 3,402

Total Earmarked Reserves 5,708 0 (2,306) 0 3,402

General Reserves

General Fund 3,266 0 0 1,225 4,491

Total General Fund Balances 8,974 0 (2,306) 1,225 7,893

NW Fire Control - 25% Share - General Fund 675 0 0 168 843

Total Usable Reserves 9,649 0 (2,306) 1,393 8,736
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(c) Capital Grants Unapplied 
This represents capital grants that have been received and recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but which have yet to be applied 
to finance capital expenditure. 
 

(d) Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 
Capital reserves are not allowed to be used for revenue purposes and in certain cases 
can only be used for specific statutory purposes. The Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 
is a reserve established for specific statutory purposes. 

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
 

4.8 Exceptional Items – Home Office Grant received 
 

 
 

4.9 Other Operating Expenditure 
 

 
 

4.10 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Note £000

(4,400) Home Office Grant Received 0

(4,400) Total 0

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Note £000

(9) (Gains)/Losses on disposal of non-current assets (42)

27 NW Fire Control - 25% Share Capital Grants Unapplied Applied 0

18 Total (42)

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Note £000

1,452 Interest payable and similar charges 1,359

1,116 Interest on PFI Liabilities 1,165

10,695 Net Interest on the defined benefit liability (pension assets) 10,732

(597) Interest receivable and similar income (892)

12,666 Total 12,364
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4.11 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 

 

 
 

4.12 Expenditure & Funding Analysis 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from 
resources (government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) by the Authority in comparison 
with those resources consumed or earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices.  It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes 
between the Authority’s directorates/services/departments.  Income and expenditure accounted for 
under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Note £000

(15,924) Council Tax Income (16,767)

(6,497) Business Rates (7,705)

(4,895) Non-Ring-fenced Government Grants (5,719)

(9) Recognised Capital Income 0

(27,325) Total (30,191)

As reported for  

management

Adjustment to 

arrive at the 

net amount 

chargeable to 

the General 

Fund balance 

Net 

Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund balance

Adjustments 

between 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net Expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Strategic Management 1,360 1,360 5 1,365

Corporate Services 7,426 (579) 6,847 (6,877) (30)

Service Delivery 6,765 (705) 6,060 29 6,089

Response 14,562 14,562 71 14,633

NW Fire Control - 25% Share 0 524 524 124 648

Net Cost of Services 30,113 (760) 29,353 (6,648) 22,705

Other Income and Expenditure (29,032) 592 (28,440) 10,571 (17,869)

(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services
1,081 (168) 913 3,923 4,836

General Fund

Earmarked 

Revenue 

Reserves

Earmarked 

Capital 

Reserves

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Opening General Fund Balance 1 April 2024 3,941 5,708 0 9,649

Surplus/Deficit on General Fund Balance in 

Year
1,393 (2,306) 0 (913)

Closing Reserve Balance at 31 March 

2025
5,334 3,402 0 8,736

2024/25
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Prior Period Adjustment 
The 2023/24 Expenditure and Funding Analysis note was presented incorrectly and did not include 
the detailed breakdown of the other income and expenditure line by the columns now shown.  The 
table presented in the prior year accounts did not include the five columns as now shown.  There is 
no impact on the main financial statements or net expenditure shown in the CIES.  The adjustment 
relates to presentational information. 

 
 

 
 

As reported for  

management

Adjustment to 

arrive at the 

net amount 

chargeable to 

the General 

Fund balance 

Net 

Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund balance

Adjustments 

between 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net Expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

2023/24 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Strategic Management 1,142 0 1,142 24 1,166

Corporate Services 500 (288) 212 (1,319) (1,107)

Service Delivery 5,559 0 5,559 (5,916) (357)

Response 14,485 0 14,485 334 14,819

NW Fire Control - 25% Share 0 (160) (160) 170 10

Net Cost of Services 21,686 (448) 21,238 (6,707) 14,531

Other Income and Expenditure (25,430) 287 (25,143) 10,502 (14,641)

(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services
(3,744) (161) (3,905) 3,795 (110)

General Fund

Earmarked 

Revenue 

Reserves

Earmarked 

Capital 

Reserves

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Opening General Fund Balance 1 April 2023 (1,990) (3,754) 0 (5,744)

Surplus/Deficit on General Fund Balance in Year (1,951) (1,953) 0 (3,904)

Closing Reserve Balance at 31 March 

2024
(3,941) (5,707) 0 (9,648)

 2023/24
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4.13 Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis 
 

 
 
 
Prior Period Adjustment 
The 2023/24 Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis note was presented incorrectly and 
did not include the detailed breakdown of the other income and expenditure line by the columns now 
shown.  The table presented in the prior year accounts did not include the breakdown of columns as 
now shown.  There is no impact on the main financial statements or net expenditure shown in the 
CIES.  The adjustment relates to presentational information. 
 

 

Depreciation Total to arrive 

at the amount 

charged to the 

General Fund

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments

Other Differences Total 

Adjustment 

between 

funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

2024/25 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Strategic Management 0 0 0 0 5 5

Corporate Services (2,511) (2,511) (1,095) (5,786) 4 (6,877)

Service Delivery 0 0 0 0 29 29

Response 0 0 0 0 71 71

NW Fire Control - 25% Share (161) (161) 161 (37) 0 124

Net Cost of Services (2,672) (2,672) (934) (5,823) 109 (6,648)

Other Income and Expenditure 0 0 (43) 10,732 (118) 10,571

(Surplus) / Deficit on Provision of 

Services
(2,672) (2,672) (977) 4,909 (9) 3,923

Further Analysis of adjustments

Depreciation 2,672 2,672

MRP (1,210) (1,210)

Revaluations (483) (483)

Direct Revenue Contributions (1,913) (1,913)

P&L on sale of assets 4 4

Recognised capital income (47) (47)

Use of capital Grants 0 0

Interest on Liabilities - LGPS (154) (154)

Interest on Liabilities - Fire pensions 10,887 10,887

Reverse Ee'rs contributions - LGPS (603) (603)

Reverse Ee'rs contributions - Fire pensions (10,420) (10,420)

Current Service Costs - LGPS 525 525

Current Service Costs - Fire pensions 2,918 2,918

Non Dist'd Costs 1,756 1,756

Acc'd Absence 109 109

Collection Fund (118) (118)

Total Adjustments 0 0 (977) 4,909 (9) 3,923
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(a) Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
Adjustments for capital purposes – this column adds in depreciation and impairment and 
revaluation gains and losses in the service line, and for: 
 

• Other Operating Expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of 
income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets 
 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure – the statutory charges 
for capital financing i.e.. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 
contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not 
chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 

 

• Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure – capital grants 
are adjusted for income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting 
practices.  Revenue grants are adjusted from those receivable in the year to 
those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied 
throughout the year.  The Taxations and Non-Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year without 
conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year. 

 

(b) Net Change for the Pension Adjustments 
Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19 Employee 
Benefits pension related expenditure and income: 

Depreciation Total to arrive 

at the amount 

charged to the 

General Fund

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments

Other Differences Total 

Adjustment 

between 

funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

2023/24 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Strategic Management 0 0 0 0 24 24

Corporate Services (1,784) (1,784) (1,092) (31) (197) (1,320)

Service Delivery 0 0 0 (6,017) 101 (5,916)

Response 0 0 0 0 334 334

NW Fire Control - 25% Share (159) (159) 186 (16) 0 170

Net Cost of Services (1,943) (1,943) (906) (6,064) 262 (6,708)

Other Income and Expenditure 0 0 (9) 10,712 (201) 10,502

(Surplus) / Deficit on Provision of 

Services
(1,943) (1,943) (915) 4,648 61 3,794

Further Analysis of adjustments

Depreciation 1,943 1,943

MRP (1,167) (1,167)

Revaluations (502) (502)

Direct Revenue Contributions (1,207) (1,207)

P&L on sale of assets (9) (9)

Recognised capital income 0 0

Use of capital Grants 27 27

Interest on Liabilities - LGPS (108) (108)

Interest on Liabilities - Fire pensions 10,787 10,787

Reverse Ee'rs contributions - LGPS (434) (434)

Reverse Ee'rs contributions - Fire pensions (9,361) (9,361)

Current Service Costs - LGPS 402 402

Current Service Costs - Fire pensions 2,918 2,918

Non Dist'd Costs 444 444

Acc'd Absence 262 262

Collection Fund (201) (201)

Total Adjustments 0 0 (915) 4,648 61 3,794
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• For Services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions 
made by the Authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current 
service costs and past service costs. 
 

• For Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure – the net interest on 
the defined benefit liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 

(c) Other Differences 
Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
 

• For Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure the other 
differences column recognises adjustments to the General Fund for the timing 
differences for premiums and discounts. 
 

• The charge under Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure represents the difference between what is chargeable under 
statutory regulations for Council Tax and NDR that was projected to be received 
at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally accepted 
accounting practices in the Code.  This is a timing difference as any difference 
will be brought forward in the future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection 
Fund. 

 

• For Services this represents adjustments to expenditure to reflect timing 
differences associated with the recognition of the costs of short-term paid 
absences (holiday pay).  
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4.14 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 
The Authority’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows: 

 

 
 

4.15 Officers’ Remuneration 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that local authorities disclose details of the number 
of employees whose remuneration exceeds £50,000 in bands of £5,000. The table below includes 
senior employees who are also subject to additional disclosure below. Remuneration includes any 
payments made on termination of employment but does not include pension contributions.  

 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 also now requires that local authorities disclose the 
individual remuneration details of senior employees by job title for several categories if their annual 
salary is above £50,000. For disclosure, senior employees are defined by the Authority as Group 
Manager or Head of Service and above. 

 

 
 

 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Note £000

Expenditure

15,488 Employee Benefit expenses 18,362

8,262 Other Service expenses 9,229

1,441 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 2,029

10,695 Interest on net pension liability 10,732

1,452 Interest payments 1,359

37,338 Total Expenditure 41,711

Income

(1,522) Fee, charge and other service income (2,314)

(597) Interest and Investment Income (892)

(22,421) Income from Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates (24,472)

(12,927) Grants, Contributions and Reimbursements (9,155)

27 NW Fire Control - Recognise release of capital grant unapplied 0

(9) Gain or Loss in Disposal of Non-Current Assets (42)

(37,449) Total Income (36,875)

(111) (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 4,836

Fire 

Officers Fire Staff Total

Fire 

Officers Fire Staff Total

Between £50,000 and £54,999 10 1 11 19 0 19

Between £55,000 and £59,999 7 1 8 5 1 6

Between £60,000 and £64,999 11 0 11 10 0 10

Between £65,000 and £69,999 2 0 2 5 0 5

Between £70,000 and £74,999 2 0 2 4 0 4

Between £75,000 and £79,999 0 0 0 1 0 1

Total Number of Employees (Excluding 

Senior Employees)
32 2 34 44 1 45

Remuneration Banding (incl Termination 

Payments)

Number of Employees

2023/24 2024/25
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Note 1: The postholder left the organisation on 31/12/24  
Note 2: The postholder started employment on 8/08/2024 and was appointed Chief Fire Officer 

on 31/01/2025  
Note 3: The postholder left the organisation on 09/04/2024  
Note 4: The postholder started employment on 01/11/2024  
Note 5: The postholder left the organisation on 08/12/2024  
 

 
 

Note 1: Chief Fire Officer retired on 09/07/23 
Note 2: Appointed as Chief Fire Officer 09/07/23.  Previously Assistant Chief Fire Officer 
Note 3: Appointed as temporary Assistant Chief Fire Officer 09/07/23, Previously Area 
Manager 
 
 
 
Exit Packages 
There were no exit packages awarded in the year. 

Post

Salaries, 

fees & 

allowances

Payments 

for loss of 

employment

Benefits 

in Kind 

(e.g car 

allowance)

Total 

Remuneration 

 excluding 

pension 

contributions

Pension Total 

N
o

te

2024/25 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 

Chief Fire Officer 1 127 0 0 127 43 170

Senior Fire Lead / Chief Fire Officer 2 88 0 0 88 0 88

Deputy Chief Fire Officer 3 3 0 0 3 1 4

Assistant Chief Fire Officer 109 0 0 109 41 150

Temporary Assistant Chief Fire Officer 108 0 0 108 27 135

Head of Prevention and Protection 4 40 0 0 40 0 40

Head of Preparedness 82 0 0 82 30 112

Area Manager 84 0 0 84 32 116

Head of Response 92 0 0 92 35 127

Programme Lead 57 0 0 57 11 68

Head of Safety and Assurance 67 0 0 67 12 79

Head of People and Talent 5 55 0 0 55 8 63

Total 912 0 0 912 240 1,152

Post

Salaries, fees & 

allowances

Payments for 

loss of 

employment

Benefits in 

Kind (e.g car 

allowance)

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

pension 

contributions

Pension Total 

N
o

te

2023/24 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 

Chief Fire Officer 1 44 0 0 44 13 57

Assistant Chief Fire Officer / Chief Fire Officer 2
140 0 0 140 32 172

Deputy Chief Fire Officer 128 0 0 128 37 165

Area Manager / Assistant Chief Fire Officer 3 107 0 0 107 24 131

Area Manager (Head of Response) 85 0 0 85 24 109

Area Manager (NWFC Project) 81 0 0 81 23 104

Area Manager (Head of Preparedness) 79 0 0 79 21 100

Head of People and Talent 74 0 0 74 13 87

Head of Safety and Assurance 64 0 0 64 12 76

Transformation Project Lead 58 0 0 58 11 69

Total 860 0 0 860 210 1,070
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4.16 External Audit Costs 
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, the 
certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and to non-audit services provided by the 
Authority’s external auditors.  

 

 
 

4.17 Grants, Contributions and Reimbursement Income 
The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and reimbursements to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in 2024/25: 
 

 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

101
Fees payable to the external auditor with regard to external audit 

services carried out by the appointed auditor
122

0 Prior Year Adjustment due reduced audit work 2023/24 (41)

(14) Rebate from Public Sector Audit Appointments in year. (14)

87 Total 67

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income

Non Ringfenced Government Grants

(3,211) Revenue Support Grant (4,679)

(992) Business Rate Multiplier Cap 0

0 Levy Account Surplus (59)

(409) Rural Services Delivery Grant (473)

0 Funding Guarantee (459)

(283) Services Grant (49)

(4,895) Total (5,719)

Credited to Services

(4,400) Home Office Grants

(1,654) PFI Grant (1,654)

(1,255) Pensions Grant (1,065)

(101) New Dimensions (27)

(78) Firelink (52)

(26) JESO Grant (11)

(59) Levy Account Surplus 0

(58) Fire Protection Grant (161)

(56) Safer Streets (54)

(33) ESMCP Grant 0

(8) Other Grants (126)

(7,728) Total (3,150)

(304) NW Fire Control - 25% Share recognised (304)

(12,927) Total Grants, Contributions and Reimbursements (9,173)
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4.18 Related Parties 
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals 
that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the 
Authority.  Disclosure of these transactions will allow readers to assess the extent to which the 
Authority might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured 
the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Authority. 

 
IPSAS 20 Related Party Disclosures, based on IAS 24, requires CCFRA to disclose material 
transactions and outstanding balances with related parties – bodies or individuals that have the 
potential to control or influence CCFRA or to be controlled or influenced by CCFRA. 
 
Central Government has effective control over the general operations of both CCFRA and the 
OPFCC. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which CCFRA and the OPFCC 
operates, together with funding in the form of general or specific grants.  
 
The Chief Finance Officer (S.151) and Joint Head of Estates of the OPFCC undertake these roles 
jointly for the OPFCC and also for CCFRA. The OPFCC Chief Executive also acts as the Monitoring 
Officer for the Authority and all OPFCC staff support the governance and accountability of CCFRA. 
The costs are reviewed annually as part of the budget setting process and in 2024/25, the sum of 
£217,338 was charged to CCFRA for this support.  
 
CCFRA collaborate and deliver mutual aid arrangements to and from other Fire Authorities. They 
collaborate with Lancashire, Cheshire and Greater Manchester for the control room and system. 

The OPFCC maintains a register of business interests and key members of staff in the OPFCC and 
CCFRA Chief Officers and the JAC members are required, at the end of each year, to declare 
whether they, or any member of their immediate family, have had any related party transactions (i.e. 
significant financial dealings) with the OPFCC and CCFRA. All returns were received and reviewed by 
the S151 Officer and no disclosures are required. 

On 31 March 2025, the Authority owed £1.421million to Cumberland Council, £6.866million to 
Westmorland and Furness Council and was owed £0.767million from Westmorland and Furness 
Council.  These relate primarily to transactions required to balance off the services provided to/from 
the Authority by the unitary council’s and amounts due to/from the Authority in relation to 
disaggregation of the County Council balance sheet.  

 
Local Authority Controlled Company – NW Fire Control Limited 
NW Fire Control Limited is a company limited by guarantee with the responsibility for Fire and Rescue 
Service mobilisation for the North West region. The company registration number is 06314891. The 
Company has four members - Cheshire, Cumbria, Greater Manchester and Lancashire Fire & Rescue 
Authorities (FRAs). The liability of each member in the event of the company being wound up is 
limited and shall not exceed £1. Each member of the company has the right to appoint two directors, 
who are Councillors appointed to their respective FRAs. All directors have equal voting rights. In 2014 
all four services transferred their Control Room functions into the regionalised service provided by NW 
Fire Control Limited. The cost of the service is charged out to the four FRAs on an agreed pro rata 
basis set out in a Service Level Agreement. 
 
An assessment for Group Accounting requirements has taken place during 2024/25 in respect of NW 
Fire Control Limited. in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom Based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS10, 11 & 12). 
 
It has been determined that the company is governed by Joint Control as unanimous consent exists 
for key decisions and that each Authority has equal voting rights. This joint arrangement has been 
deemed to be a Joint Operation as the parties have rights to the assets, and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement and as such group accounts are not required. 
 
The Company’s Financial Statements can be obtained from Companies House with the deadline for 
submission as 31st December 2025 for the final audited 2024/25 accounts. 
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Below shows the key Information from the estimated Draft Financial Statements of NW Fire Control 
Limited: 

 

 
 
 
The following balance sheet items are included in the Authorities overall balance sheet 
(representing the Authorities 25% share). 
 

 
 
 

4.19 Pension Costs 
Participation in pension schemes  
On 1 April 2015 a new Firefighters’ Pension Scheme was introduced, and the following notes include 
the data for the three schemes combined, 2015, 2006 and 1992. Employees' and employers' 
contributions into the Firefighters’ Pension Fund are determined by the Secretary of State on the advice 
of the Government Actuary. Payments of pensions and other retirement benefits are made from the 
Pension Fund. Government grant is payable to cover any shortfall on the Pension Fund account.  
 
Other employees, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme, which is a funded defined benefits scheme administered by Westmorland and Furness 
Council. The Authority and employees pay contributions to the LGPS Pension Fund, calculated at a 
level intended to balance the pension liability with investment assets. In 2024/25, the rate of 
contributions payable by employees range from 5.5% to 12.5% depending on the salary band of the 
employee. The Authority contributes at the rate prescribed by the Fund’s actuary.  

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

356 Total Assets less current liabilities 420

356 Net Assets 420

85 Surplus/(Deficit) before taxation 70

84 Surplus/(Deficit) after taxation 69

159 Balance owed by CCFRA 0

0 Balance owed to CCFRA 13

516 Invoices raised by NW Fire Control to CCFRA 730

0 Invoices raised by CCFRA to NW Fire Control 13

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

191 Intangible Assets 207

14 Property Plant and Equipment Assets 12

205 Total Long Term Assets 219

236 Debtors 154

59 Cash 525

295 Total Current Assets 679

(412) Creditors (803)

(412) Total Current Liabilities (803)

0 Pension Liabilities 0

88 Total Net Assets 95

(674) General Fund Reserve (842)

587 Capital Adjustment Account 747

(88) Total Reserves (95)
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Transactions relating to retirement benefits  
The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services when employees 
earn them, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the funding needs 
of the Authority are based upon the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of retirement benefits is 
reversed out after Net Operating Expenditure. The following transactions have been made during the 
year:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The amounts in relation to North West Fire Control are as follows: 

2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25 2024/25

LGPS

Fire 

Fighters Total LGPS

Fire 

Fighters Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of Services

402 2,918 3,320 Current Service Costs 410 2,918 3,328

1 420 421 Past Service Costs / (Gain) 0 1,738 1,738

5 0 5 Curtailment Costs 0 0 0

Other Operating Expenditure

18 0 18 Administration Expenses 19 0 19

Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure

(88) 10,787 10,699 Net Interest Expense (154) 10,886 10,732

338 14,125 14,463
Total Post Employment Benefits charged to Surplus or 

Deficit on Provision of Services
275 15,542 15,817

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 

comprising:

(796) 0 (796)
Return on Plan Assets (excluding the amount included in 

the net interest expense)
753 0 753

(255) (4,540) (4,795)
Actuarial (Gains) and losses arising on changes in 

demographic assumptions
(58) (407) (465)

(314) (3,665) (3,979)
Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in financial 

assumptions
(2,843) (31,981) (34,824)

154 1,402 1,556 Experience (Gains)/Losses (25) (241) (266)

1,291 0 1,291 Effect of the asset ceiling 2,324 0 2,324

80 (6,803) (6,723) Total Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 151 (32,629) (32,478)

418 7,322 7,740
Net Charge to the Comprehensive Income & 

Expenditure Statement
426 (17,087) (16,661)

Movement in Reserves Statement

(338) (14,125) (14,463)
Reversal of net charge made for retirement benefits in 

accordance with IAS 19
(275) (15,542) (15,817)

434 9,361 9,795
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance 

for pensions in the year
451 10,420 10,871

96 (4,764) (4,668) Contribution (to) / from Pension Reserve 176 (5,122) (4,946)



CUMBRIA COMMISSIONER FIRE AND SAFETY AUTHORITY – UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25 

52 

 
 

4.20 Gains/Losses on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement includes gains and losses from the sale of 
Authority assets. The value of the gains and losses for the year 2024/25 is as follows:  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25

NWFC

NWFC @ 

25% NWFC NWFC @25%

£000 £000 £000 £000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of Services

448 112 Current Service Costs 459 115

Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure

(16) (4) Net Interest Expense (4) (1)

432 108
Total Post Employment Benefits charged to Surplus or 

Deficit on Provision of Services
455 114

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 

comprising:

(200) (50)
Return on Plan Assets (excluding the amount included in 

the net interest expense)
483 121

(80) (20)
Actuarial (Gains) and losses arising on changes in 

demographic assumptions
(22) (6)

(1,016) (254)
Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in financial 

assumptions
(2,985) (746)

396 99 Experience (Gains)/Losses (116) (29)

(1,588) (397) Effect of the asset ceiling (2,792) (698)

(2,488) (622) Total Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (5,432) (1,358)

(2,056) (514)
Net Charge to the Comprehensive Income & 

Expenditure Statement
(4,977) (1,244)

Movement in Reserves Statement

(432) (108)
Reversal of net charge made for retirement benefits in 

accordance with IAS 19
(455) (114)

512 128
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance 

for pensions in the year
606 152

80 20 Contribution (to) / from Pension Reserve 151 38

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(9) Vehicles Plant and Equipment (42)

(9) Total (42)
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4.21 Revaluations Charged to CIES 
During 2024/25 the value of Non-Current Assets that were revalued and charged to the surplus/deficit 
on Provision of Services within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement were 
£0.483million.  Movements in other Property, Plant and Equipment are shown in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Account within Net cost of Services. The table below shows the service line 
that all revaluations were originally charged to.   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

502 Corporate Services 483

502 Total Included in Net Cost of Services 483
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Balance Sheet 
4.22 Property Plant and Equipment  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overall

2024/25

Other Land 

& Buildings

Vehicles 

Equip & 

Plant

Assets 

under 

Constr Total Intangibles

Fixtures 

& Fittings

Computer 

Equipment Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

Valuation as at 1 April 2024 44,155 18,125 249 62,529 1,043 63 163 1,269 63,798

Remeasurements due to IFRS16 1,035 0 0 1,035 0 0 0 0 1,035

Additions/Enhancements 272 1,859 0 2,131 175 0 0 175 2,306

Disposals 0 (536) 0 (536) 0 0 0 0 (536)

Reclassifications 0 249 (249) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluations Taken to Revaluation 

Reserve (2,212) 0 0 (2,212) 0 0 0 0 (2,212)

Revaluations Charged to Surplus/Deficit 

on Provision of Services 2024/25 (31) 0 0 (31) 0 0 0 0 (31)

Valuation as at 31 March 2025 43,219 19,697 0 62,916 1,218 63 163 1,444 64,360

Depreciation 

Accumulated Dep'n at 1 April 2024 0 (9,990) 0 (9,990) (852) (54) (158) (1,064) (11,054)

Depreciation Charge to CIES 2024/25 (1,393) (1,118) 0 (2,511) (159) (1) (1) (161) (2,672)

Depreciation on Disposals 0 532 0 532 0 0 0 0 532

Depreciation w/out to Revaluation Reserve 879 0 0 879
0 0 0

0 879

Depreciation w/out to Surplus/Deficit on 

Provision of Services 514 0 0 514
0 0 0

0 514

Accumulated Dep'n at 31 March 2025 0 (10,576) 0 (10,576) (1,011) (55) (159) (1,224) (11,800)

Net Book Value at 31 March 2025 43,219 9,121 0 52,340 207 8 4 219 52,559

Net Book Value at 31 March 2024 44,155 8,135 249 52,539 191 9 5 205 52,744

Nature of Asset holding

Owned 23,634 9,121 0 32,755 207 8 4 219 32,974

PFI 19,585 0 0 19,585 0 0 0 0 19,585

43,219 9,121 0 52,340 207 8 4 219 52,559

Historic Cost Valuation

Net Book Value 31 March 2025 32,899 9,093 0 41,992 207 8 4 219 42,211

Net Book Value 31 March 2024 32,174 8,135 249 40,558 191 9 5 205 40,763

NW Fire ControlCCFRA
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N.B The total NBV at 31 March 2024, has been corrected from what was published in 2023/24 due to a formula 
error 
 

(a) Depreciation 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 
  

Asset Category Rate Basis 
   
Buildings 14-60 Straight Line 

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture & Equipment 1-19 Straight Line 

   

 

(b) Effects of Changes in Estimates 
In 2024/25, the Authority made no material changes to its processes and techniques for 
making accounting estimates for Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overall

2023/24

Other Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles 

Equip & 

Plant

Assets 

under 

Constr Total Intangibles

Fixtures & 

Fittings

Computer 

Equipment Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

Valuation as at 1 April 2023 43,101 16,108 1,590 60,799 1,004 63 163 1,230 62,029

Additions/Enhancements 156 802 249 1,207 39 0 0 39 1,246

Disposals 0 (375) 0 (375) 0 0 0 0 (375)

Reclassifications 0 1,590 (1,590) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluations Taken to Revaluation 

Reserve 625 0 0
625

0 0 0 0
625

Revaluations Charged to Surplus/Deficit 

on Provision of Services 2023/24 273 0 0
273

0 0 0 0
273

Valuation as at 31 March 2024 44,155 18,125 249 62,529 1,043 63 163 1,269 63,798

Depreciation 

Accumulated Dep'n at 1 April 2023 0 (9,409) 0 (9,409) (701) (54) (150) (905) (10,314)

Depreciation Charge to CIES 2023/24 (829) (956) 0 (1,785) (151) (1) (8) (159) (1,944)

Depreciation on Disposals 0 375 0 375 0 0 0 0 375

Depreciation w/out to Revaluation Reserve 600 0 0 600 0 0 0 0 600

Depreciation w/out to Surplus/Deficit on 

Provision of Services 229 0 0 229 0 0 0 0 229

Accumulated Dep'n at 31 March 2024 0 (9,990) 0 (9,990) (852) (54) (158) (1,064) (11,054)

Net Book Value at 31 March 2024 44,155 8,135 249 52,539 191 9 5 205 52,744

Net Book Value at 31 March 2023 43,101 6,699 1,590 51,390 303 9 5 316 51,706

Nature of Asset holding

Owned 23,585 8,135 249 31,969 191 9 5 205 32,174

PFI 20,570 0 0 20,570 0 0 0 0 20,570

44,155 8,135 249 52,539 191 9 5 205 52,744

Historic Cost Valuation

Net Book Value 31 March 2024 32,174 8,135 249 40,765 191 9 5 205 40,970

Net Book Value 31 March 2023 32,124 6,699 1,590 40,413 303 9 5 316 40,729

NW Fire Control
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4.23 Bases of Valuation 
From 1 April 1994 all the Authority’s property, plant and equipment have been valued on the basis 
recommended by CIPFA and in accordance with the Statement of Asset Valuation Principles and 
Guidance Notes issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  Details of the 
valuation bases applied are set out in Note 4.0 (Statement of Accounting Policies). 

 
Valuations are carried out via an annual revaluation programme. Valuations for 2024/25 were carried 
out by Michael Beales BSc (Hons) MRICS, Carigiet Cowen, as at 31 March 2025. Vehicles, Plant and 
Equipment assets are held at Historic Cost and are not subject to revaluations. All assets subject to 
revaluation were revalued as at 31 March 2025. 

 
The table below shows the number and types of asset the Authority reports on its balance sheet: 

 
31 March 

2025

Fire Stations 38

Plant, Furniture & Equipment 45

Vehicles 184

 
 
 

4.24 Financial Instruments 
 

(a) Categories of Financial Instruments 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet: 
 
Financial Assets 

 
 

 N.B Current investments includes cash and cash equivalents   

 
 

Total

Investments Debtors Investments Debtors

31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025

2024/25 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fair Value through Profit & Loss 0 0 0 0 0

Amortised Cost 0 0 20,001 1,451 21,452

Total Financial Assets 0 0 20,001 1,451 21,452

Non-Financial Assets 0 0 0 2,725 2,725

Total 0 0 20,001 4,176 24,177

Non Current Current
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Financial Liabilities 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Total

Investments Debtors Investments Debtors

31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

2024 2024 2024 2024 2024

2023/24 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fair Value through Profit & Loss 0 0 0 0 0

Amortised Cost 0 0 6,770 5,248 12,018

Total Financial Assets 0 0 6,770 5,248 12,018

Non-Financial Assets 0 0 0 5,991 5,991

Total 0 0 6,770 11,239 18,009

Non Current Current

Total

Borrowings Creditors Borrowings Creditors

31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025

2024/25 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Amortised Cost (20,424) 0 (669) (10,240) (31,333)

Total Financial Liabilities (20,424) 0 (669) (10,240) (31,333)

Non-Financial Liabilities 0 0 0 (9,049) (9,049)

Total (20,424) 0 (669) (19,289) (40,382)

Non Current Current

Total

Borrowings Creditors Borrowings Creditors

31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

2024 2024 2024 2024 2024

2023/24 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Amortised Cost (20,022) 0 (578) (9,132) (29,732)

Total Financial Liabilities (20,022) 0 (578) (9,132) (29,732)

Non-Financial Liabilities 0 0 0 (3,290) (3,290)

Total (20,022) 0 (578) (12,422) (33,022)

Non Current Current
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(b) Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 

 

 
 

(c) Fair Value of Assets & Liabilities carried at Amortised Cost  
 
The carrying amount financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying value does not 
approximate fair value are calculated as follows: 
 

• The Authority has based its fair value report on the borrowing/deposit rate for the same 
financial instrument from a comparable lender;   

• A consistent approach has been applied to assets and liabilities; 

• Estimated fair values have been calculated using the equivalent market interest rates as 
at 31 March 2025; 

• Early repayment or impairment is not recognised; and 

• The fair value of operational liabilities and receivables is taken to be the invoiced or 
billed amount; 

 

 
 

Surplus or 

Deficit on the 

Provision of 

Services

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure

Surplus or 

Deficit on the 

Provision of 

Services

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net (Gains)/Losses on:

(74) 0
Financial Assets measured at Amortised 

Cost
138 0

(74) 0 Total Net (Gains)/Losses 138 0

Interest Revenue:

(597) 0
Financial Assets measured at Amortised 

Cost
(892) 0

(597) 0 Total Interest Revenue (892) 0

Interest Expense:

1,452 0
Financial Liabilities measured at Amortised 

Cost
1,359

0

1,452 0 Total Interest Expense 1,359 0

2023/24 2024/25

Carrying 

Amount
Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount
Fair Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

(20,600) (22,988) Financial Liabilities held at amortised cost (21,093) (19,288)

(9,132) (9,132) Short Term Operational Creditors (10,240) (10,240)

(29,732) (32,120) Total (31,333) (29,528)

31 March 2024 31 March 2025
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Short Term Debtors and Creditors are carried at cost as this is a fair approximation of 
their value.  
 

(d) Risks arising from Financial Instruments 
The Authority’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

• credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the 
Authority. 

• liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to 
meet its payment commitments; and 

• market risk – the possibility that a financial loss might arise for the Authority because 
of movements in interest rates. 

 
The Authority’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources 
available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by the Finance team, under 
policies approved by Authority in the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement.  
The Authority also maintains Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s) that provide written 
principles for overall risk management as well as specific areas covering interest rate risk, 
credit risk and the investment of surplus cash. 

 
(e) Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and other financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposure from the Authority’s customers. This risk is minimised through the annual 
investment strategy. 
 
Credit Risk Management Practices 
The Authority’s credit risk management practices are set out in appendix A of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement. 
 
This risk is minimised through the application of policies set out in the annual Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), which requires that deposits are not made with 
financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum credit criteria, as laid down by 
Fitch and Moody’s ratings services.  The annual TMSS (approved by the Commissioner in 
February 2024), also imposes a maximum sum to be invested with a financial institution 
located within each category.   

 
The credit criteria as set out in the 2024/25 TMSS in respect of financial assets held by the 
Commissioner are detailed below: 
 
 
 
 

Carrying 

Amount
Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount
Fair Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

5,248 5,248 Short Term Debtors 1,451 1,451

6,770 6,770 Cash & Cash Equivalent 20,001 20,001

12,018 12,018 Total 21,452 21,452

31 March 2024 31 March 2025
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Financial Asset Category Minimum  
Criteria 

Maximum 
Investment 

Deposits with major UK and 
non-UK Banks and Building 
Societies (Unsecured) 

A-  
The maximum duration of 
investments varies 
according to the credit 
rating.  The only exception 
to this is the NatWest bank 
(Currently BBB+) which 
provides the day-to-day 
banking services to the 
Commissioner. 
 

Maximum per institution or 
Group £2m (varies 
according to credit rating). 
Maximum of all deposits 
£20m. 
 

Deposits with major UK and 
non-UK Banks and Building 
Societies (Secured) 

A-  
The maximum duration of 
investments varies 
according to the credit 
rating. 
 

Maximum per institution or 
Group £4m (varies 
according to credit rating). 
Maximum of all deposits 
£20m. 
 

Deposits with Money Market 
Funds/Pooled Funds 

Long Term: AAA 
 

£4m per fund.  Maximum 
of all deposits £20m. 
 

Deposits with Government 
(includes HM Treasury and 
other Local Authorities) 

Not credit rated but are 
legally required to set a 
balanced budget. 

£4m per Local Authority, 
unlimited with HM 
Treasury.  Maximum of all 
deposits – No Limit. 
 

 
The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks, 
building societies and other Local Authorities of £4m at the balance sheet date cannot be 
assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay 
the principal sum will be specific to each individual institution.  Recent experience has 
shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments.  A risk of 
recoverability applies to all of the Commissioner’s deposits, but there was no evidence at 
the 31 March 2025 that this was likely to happen. 

Amounts arising from Expected Credit Losses 

The following analysis summarises the Authority’s potential maximum credit risk exposure, 
based on the experience gathered over the last five financial years, on the level of default 
on loans and receivables and adjusted for current market conditions:   

 

 
 

In determining expected credit losses for trade receivables, the Authority utilises the 
lifetime expected credit loss measurement basis under the simplified approach as per the 

Value at 31 

March 2025

% Default 

based on 

previous 

experience

% Default 

adjusted for 

current market 

conditions

Estimated 

maximum 

exposure to 

default

£000 £000

Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions
19,775 Nil Nil 0

Gross Operational Debtors 1,832 n/a 0.00% 0

0
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Code of Practice.  This approach determines the age of debts and applies the historical 
likelihood of debt recovery for debts of similar ages. 
 
During the period the movement on the bad debt provision that related to customers 
including Council Tax and Business Rates was as follows:  

 

 
 
 

(f) Liquidity Risk 
As the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the PWLB, there is no significant risk 
that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments.  
A more pertinent risk is that the Authority will be required to replenish a significant 
proportion of its internal borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates.  At the balance 
sheet date, the Authority is confident that it has adequate working capital principally as a 
result of its reserves to mitigate this risk.  Nevertheless, prevailing money market rates are 
regularly monitored with a view to ensuring that long term debt financing decisions are 
made at the optimum time.   

 

 
 
All operational liabilities are due to be repaid within one year. 

 
(g) Market Risk 

The Authority is exposed to some risk due to movements in interest rates on its loans and 
investments.  These potential risks are: 

 
• An increase in interest rates will result in a fall in the fair value of borrowings and 

investments. 
 
• A decrease in interest rates will result in a rise in the fair value of borrowings and 

investments. 
 
• The value of interest received from investments will rise or fall depending on 

increases and decreases in interest rates and will impact on the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
As all of the Authority’s existing borrowings and investments have been placed at fixed 
rates, this risk has to a large extent been minimised.  
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

671 Opening Balance 597

0 Write Offs in Year 0

(74) (Decrease)/Increase to Provisions 138

597 Closing Balance 735

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

7,500 Over 5 years 7,500

7,500 Total 7,500
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Borrowings and investments are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost, so nominal 
gains and losses on fixed rate financial instruments have no impact on the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The Authority carries out its borrowing and investment function within parameters set out in 
its Treasury Management Strategy, which assesses interest rate exposure to feed into the 
budget process. Forecasts are updated regularly throughout the year, which allows any 
significant changes to interest rates to be reflected in current budget projections.  
 
The Treasury Management Strategy also advises on the limits for new variable and fixed–
rate borrowing for the year.  No new external long-term borrowing was undertaken in 
2024/25. 
 

4.25 Short Term Debtors  
 

 
N.B The breakdown of the 23/24 balances have been amended from the published 23/24 accounts for 
more accurate representation of the breakdown 
 
 

4.26 Inventories 
 

 
 

4.27 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

4,348 Central Government Bodies 1,374

4,989 Other Local Authorities 1,394

1,885 Bodies external to government 1,899

378 Inter-company - Firefighters pension scheme 0

236 NW Fire Control - 25% Share 154

(597) Bad debt provisions (735)

11,239 Total 4,086

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

435 Balance at 1 April 758

558 Purchases 791

(235) Recognised as an expense in the year (421)

0 Written Off Balances (152)

758 Balance at 31 March 976

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

101 Cash and Bank 44

6,610 Short Term Investments with maturity of less than 3 months 18,432

59 NW Fire Control - 25% Share 525

6,770 Total 19,001
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The value of short-term investments was significantly higher in 2024/25 due to receipt of pension 
grant in the year that is yet to be distributed.  
 

4.28 Short Term Creditors  
 

 
 

There are significant balances owed and owing to other local authorities primarily in respect of 
amounts owed following local government reorganisation and the continued use of hosted services, 
shared arrangements and disaggregation of the County Council balance sheet. 
 
There is a significant balance owed to the Fire Service Pension Account.  This is in respect of all 
income and expenditure (whether in relation to the fire and rescue service or the fire service pension 
account) being received into a single bank account.  Therefore, any income and expenditure in 
relation to the fire service pension account is shown as a net debtor/creditor in the fire and rescue 
authority accounts. 

 
4.29 Receipts in Advance 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Short Term Creditors £000

(64) Central Government Bodies 0

(9,726) Other Local Authorities (8,315)

(1,684) Other Entities and Individuals (2,066)

0 Inter-company - Firefighters pension scheme (6,287)

(412) NW Fire Control - 25% Share (803)

(536) Accumulated Absences 4.39e (627)

(12,422) Total (18,098)

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(82) Central Government Bodies (1,037)

(78) Other Local Authorities (34)

(209) Other Entities and Individuals (120)

(369) Total Revenue Receipts In Advance (1,191)
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4.30 Provisions  
The movement in the level of provisions held by the Authority during 2024/25 is as follows: - 

 

 
 
 

(i) Insurance Claims 
The Authority has established a provision totalling £0.073m to meet insurance 
claims arising from public liability, employer’s liability, motor vehicle and other 
claims. This figure is based on the estimated gross value of claims against the 
Authority at 31 March 2025 and the insurance provision will therefore cover this 
value in full. 

(ii) Pensions Provisions 
Provisions have been made for pensions payments that are being spread over 
a period of three-years as per the pension fund requirements. 

(iii) Legal Provisions 
The Authority has made provision for known litigation cases ongoing that will be 
resolved in 2025/26. 

(iv) Business Rate Retention Appeals 
An appeals provision has been established in accordance with the new 
scheme.  The Authority share of the outstanding appeals is £0.072m. 
 

4.31 Unusable reserves 
 

(a) Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment.  The balance is reduced 
when assets with accumulated gains are: 
 

• Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

• Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 
depreciation, or 

• Disposed of and the gains are realised 
 

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

1 April 2024 Additions 

in year

Used in 

year

Unused 

Amounts 

reversed

31 March 

2025

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Short Term Provisions

Insurance Claims (27) (17) 17 7 (20)

Legal Provisions 0 (202) 0 0 (202)

Pensions Provisions 0 (118) 0 0 (118)

Total (27) (337) 17 7 (340)

Long Term Provisions

Insurance Claims (63) (21) 25 4 (55)

Pension Provision 0 (141) 0 0 (141)

Business Rate Appeals (CCFRA 

Share)
(88) (53) 69 0 (72)

Total (151) (215) 94 4 (268)
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N.B. In the 2023/24 published accounts, the (£222,000) line was incorrectly categorised with the 
heading ‘Accumulated Gains on assets sold or scrapped’. This was an incorrect heading and should 
have been the same as in the table above, i.e. Difference between Fair Value Depreciation and 
Historic Cost Depreciation. 

 
(b) Capital Adjustment Account 

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing 
the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  
The Account is debited with the cost of acquisitions, construction or enhancement as 
depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation 
Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The Account is credited 
with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, 
construction, and enhancement. 
 
The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and 
Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date the Revaluation reserve was created to hold 
such gains. 
 
Note 4.5 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account. 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

11,004 Balance at 1 April 12,007

1,229 Upward Revaluation of Assets 1,626

(4)
Downward Revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the 

Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services
(2,959)

1,225
Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Non Current Assets not posted to the 

Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services
(1,333)

(222) Difference between Fair Value Depreciation and Historic Cost Depreciation (328)

12,007 Balance at 31 March 10,346
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(c) Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions. The Authority accounts for post-employment 
benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are 
earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to 
reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set 
aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be 
financed as the Authority makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually 
pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

15,952 Balance at 1 April 17,266

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(1,785) Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (2,511)

502 Revaluation gains/(losses) on Property, Plant and Equipment 483

0
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of 

the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES  
(4)

(1,283) (2,032)

222 Adjusting Amounts written out of the Revaluation reserve 328

(1,061)
Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed 

in the year
(1,704)

14,892 15,562

Capital Financing Applied in the year

0 Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 218

1,167
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against 

the General Fund
1,210

1,207 Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 1,913

2,374 3,341

17,266 Balance at 31 March 18,903

NW Fire Control

(428) Balance at 1 April (587)

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(159) Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (161)

(587) Balance at 31 March (747)

16,679 Overall Closing Balance 18,155
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The amounts in relation to North West Fire Control are as follows: 

 
 

(d) Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of council tax income and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax-payers compared with 
the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the 
Collection Fund. 
 

 
 

(e) Accumulated Absences Account 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise 
on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not 
taken in the year, e.g., annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by 
transfers to or from the Account. 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(229,578) Balance at 1 April (227,523)

8,014 Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 34,802

(14,463)

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement

(15,817)

9,795
Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners 

payable in the year
10,871

(1,291) Effect of Asset Ceiling (2,324)

(227,523) Balance at 31 March (199,991)

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

72 Balance at 1 April 0

225 Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 660

(108)

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement

(114)

128
Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners 

payable in the year
152

(317) Effect of Asset Ceiling (698)

0 Balance at 31 March (0)

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(228) Balance at 1 April (27)

201

Amount by which council tax income and non domestic rates income 

credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is 

different from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance with 

statutory requirements

118

(27) Balance at 31 March 91
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(f) Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Usable Capital Receipts Reserve holds the balance of any received capital receipts 
that have yet to be set aside against capital expenditure. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(235) Balance at 1 April (497)

235 Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the previous period 497

(497) Amounts accrued at the end of the current year (606)

(262)

Amounts by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different from 

remuneration charged in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(109)

(497) Balance at 31 March (606)

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

162 Balance at 1 April 171

9 Transfer to the capital receipts reserve upon receipt of cash 47

0 Use of Capital Receipts to finance capital expenditure (218)

9 (171)

171 Balance at 31 March 0
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4.32 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

 
 

 

4.33 PFI 
The Authority is involved in a PFI project, with Merseyside and Lancashire Fire and Rescue 
Authorities, to provide sixteen new fire stations, five of which are in Cumbria. The basis of the 
partnership is set out in a joint working agreement. Contracts were signed between Balfour Beatty 
Fire and Rescue NW Ltd in February 2011, with construction commencing in 2011/12 and completion 
in 2013/14. The cost to the Authority of the Cumbria element of the contract is expected to be £40m. 
At the end of the concession period the fire stations will be transferred to the Authority’s ownership. 
The contract will run for 25 years from the date of final handover, and the Authority pays a unitary 
payment. The stations built in Cumbria are: 

 
• Carlisle - 2 sites - Carlisle East and Carlisle West. 
• Workington – includes the Locality Headquarters. 
• Penrith - includes the Council’s Resilience Unit and Fire & Rescue Service 

Headquarters and Learning & Development Department. 
• Patterdale. 

 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

24,434 Opening Capital Financing Requirement 23,267

0 Remeasurements for IFRS16 1,035

24,302

Capital Expenditure

1,207 Property, Plant and Equipment 2,131

1,207 2,131

Sources of Finance

0 Capital Receipts used to finance expenditure (218)

(1,207) Revenue Financing & Reserves (1,913)

(1,167) Minimum Revenue Provision (1,210)

(2,374) (3,341)

23,267 Closing Capital Financing Requirement 23,092

NW Fire Control CFR

752 Opening Balance 791

39 Capital Expenditure 175

791 Closing Balance 966

24,058 Total Closing CFR 24,058

Explanation of Movements in year

(1,167)
Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by Government 

Finance Assistance)
(1,210)

(1,167) Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement (1,210)
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The PFI contract has been assessed as the only arrangement that falls within the requirements of 
IFRS16 and as such the accounting treatment has been amended in line with the requirements for 
right of use assets.  There are no other arrangements that fall within IFRS16 for the Authority. 
Movement on PFI Assets 

 
 

Movement on PFI Liabilities 

 

 
 
 

2023/24 Fire Station PFI 2024/25

£000 £000

Cost or Valuation

19,967 Valuation as at 1 April 20,570

0 Remeasurements due to IFRS16 1,035

99 Additions/Enhancements 17

0 Disposals 0

0 Reclassifications 157

458 Revaluations Taken to Revaluation Reserve (1,929)

46 Revaluations Charged to Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services (264)

20,570 Valuation as at 31 March 19,586

Depreciation 

0 Accumulated Dep'n at 1 April 0

(401) Depreciation Charge to CIES (555)

0 Depreciation on Disposals 0

401 Depreciation w/out to Revaluation Reserve 496

0 Depreciation w/out to Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services 59

0 Accumulated Dep'n at 31 March 0

20,570 Net Book Value at 31 March 19,586

19,050 Net Book Value at 1 April 19,050

Historic Cost Valuation

12,666 Net Book Value 31 March 13,315

12,772 Net Book Value 1 April 12,428

2023/24 Fire Station PFI 2024/25

£000 £000

(13,467) Balance outstanding at start of year (13,014)

0 Remeasure for IFRS16 on transition (1 April 2024) (939)

Remeasure for IFRS16 on next indexation Date (95)

453 Payments During Year 540

(13,014) Balance outstanding at end of year (13,508)
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N.B The 23/24 table has been updated from the one published in the 2023/24 accounts to recognise 
the amounts payable in years 16-20. This line was omitted from the 2023/24 table in the previously 
published accounts 

 
 
4.34 Disclosure of Net Pension Assets and Liabilities 
Assets and liabilities in relation to retirement benefits  
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the Authority 
offers retirement benefits. Although these will not actually be payable until employees retire, the 
Authority has a commitment to make payments that need to be disclosed at the time that employees 
earn their future entitlement. The Authority participates in two defined benefit pension schemes:  
 

• the Local Government Pension Scheme for civilian employees, administered by 

Westmorland and Furness Council – this is a funded scheme, meaning that the Authority 

and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level estimated to balance 

the pensions liabilities with investment assets.  

Payment for 

Services

Reimbursement 

of Capital 

Expenditure Interest Total

2024/25 £000 £000 £000 £000

Short Term PFI Liability

Payable within 1-year 761 584 1,117 2,462

Total Short Term Liability 761 584 1,117 2,462

Long Term PFI Liability

Payable within 2-5 Years 3,278 2,857 3,914 10,049

Payable within 6-10 Years 4,677 5,132 3,252 13,061

Payable within 11-15 Years 3,559 4,935 761 9,255

Payable within 16-20 years 0 0 0 0

Total Long Term Liability 11,514 12,924 7,927 32,365

Total 12,275 13,508 9,044 34,827

Payment for 

Services

Reimbursement 

of Capital 

Expenditure Interest Total

2023/24 £000 £000 £000 £000

Short Term PFI Liability

Payable within 1-year 767 492 1,226 2,485

Total Short Term Liability 767 492 1,226 2,485

Long Term PFI Liability

Payable within 2-5 Years 3,302 2,418 4,514 10,234

Payable within 6-10 Years 4,711 4,365 4,434 13,510

Payable within 11-15 Years 4,719 5,377 2,120 12,216

Payable within 16-20 years 0 362 0 362

Total Long Term Liability 12,732 12,522 11,068 36,322

Total 13,499 13,014 12,294 38,807
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• the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme – this is an unfunded scheme, meaning that there are 

no investment assets built up to meet the pensions liabilities, and cash has to be 

generated to meet actual pensions payments as they eventually fall due. The Authority’s 

budget is set taking the employer’s pension contribution into account and government 

grant is received to cover any shortfall in the account. 

 
The Local Government Pension Scheme contributions payable by employers are determined by 
the actuary to the Pension Fund based on triennial valuations, the most recent of which was at 
31 March 2022.  

 
Reconciliation of asset and benefit obligation:  

 

 
 

The amounts in relation to North West Fire Control are as follows: 
 

 
 
 

2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25 2024/25

LGPS

Fire 

Fighters Total LGPS

Fire 

Fighters Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(19,948) (229,386) (249,334) Benefit Obligation at beginning of period (1 April) (20,232) (227,347) (247,579)

(402) (2,918) (3,320) Current Service Cost (410) (2,918) (3,328)

(941) (10,787) (11,728) Interest on Pension Liabilities (975) (10,886) (11,861)

(148) (1,553) (1,701) Member Contributions (154) (1,827) (1,981)

Remeasurement (Gains) and Losses:

255 4,540 4,795
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising from changes in 

demographic assumptions
58 407 465

314 3,665 3,979
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising from changes in financial 

assumptions
2,843 31,981 34,824

(154) (1,402) (1,556) Experience (Gains)/Losses 25 241 266

(1) (420) (421) Past Service Cost 0 (1,738) (1,738)

(5) 0 (5) Losses/(Gains) on Curtailments 0 0 0

798 10,914 11,712 Benefits/transfers paid 805 12,247 13,052

(20,232) (227,347) (247,579) Benefit Obligation at end of period (31 March) (18,040) (199,840) (217,880)

2023/24 2023/24 NWFC NWFC

NWFC

NWFC @ 

25% 25%

£000 £000

(12,700) (3,175) Benefit Obligation at beginning of period (1 April) (13,011) (3,253)

(448) (112) Current Service Cost (459) (115)

(612) (153) Interest on Pension Liabilities (641) (160)

(160) (40) Member Contributions (191) (48)

Remeasurement (Gains) and Losses:

80 20
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising from changes in 

demographic assumptions
22 6

1,016 254
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising from changes in financial 

assumptions
2,985 746

(396) (99) Experience (Gains)/Losses 116 29

209 52 Benefits/transfers paid 220 55

(13,011) (3,253) Benefit Obligation at end of period (31 March) (10,959) (2,740)
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Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of scheme assets:  
 

 
 
The amounts in relation to North West Fire Control are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on 
the assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are 
based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date. Expected returns on equity investments 
reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25 2024/25

LGPS

Fire 

fighters Total LGPS

Fire 

Fighters Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

21,555 21,555 Fair Value of plan assets at beginning of period (1 April) 23,146 23,146

1,029 1,029 Interest on Plan Assets 1,129 1,129

Remeasurement gain/(loss):

796 796
The return on plan assets, excluding the amount included in 

the net interest expense
(753) (753)

(18) (18) Other - Administration Expenses (19) (19)

434 9,361 9,795 Employer Contributions 451 10,420 10,871

148 1,553 1,701 Member Contributions 154 1,827 1,981

(798) (10,914) (11,712) Benefits/transfers paid (805) (12,247) (13,052)

23,146 0 23,146 Fair Value of plan assets at end of period (31 March) 23,303 0 23,303

2023/24 2023/24 NWFC NWFC

NWFC

NWFC @ 

25% 25%

£000 £000

12,984 3,246 Fair Value of plan assets at beginning of period (1 April) 14,278 3,570

628 157 Interest on Plan Assets 706 177

Remeasurement gain/(loss):

200 50
The return on plan assets, excluding the amount included 

in the net interest expense
(483) (121)

512 128 Employer Contributions 606 152

160 40 Member Contributions 191 48

(204) (51) Benefits/transfers paid (220) (55)

14,280 3,570 Fair Value of plan assets at end of period (31 March) 15,078 3,770
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Scheme history  
 

 
 

The amounts in relation to North West Fire Control are as follows: 
 

 
 
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long run to pay retirement 
benefits. The total liability of £199.991million has a substantial impact on the net worth of the Authority 
as recorded in the Balance Sheet 
 
However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the Authority 
remains healthy:  

• the surplus on the local government scheme will be made taken into account when 

setting future contribution rates, as assessed by the scheme actuary; and  

• finance is only required to be raised to cover fire pensions when the pensions are actually 

paid.  

 
Basis for estimating assets and liabilities  

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of 
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary 
levels, etc. The annual Fire Authority budget will make allowance for the firefighter’s pension scheme 
payments based on an estimate of when such payments fall due. The Authority’s budget is set taking 
the employer’s pension contribution into account and government grant is received to cover any shortfall 
in the account.  
 
The actuary has assessed both the Firefighters’ scheme and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LPGS) liabilities. The main assumptions used in their calculations are as follows:  
 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the 
table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible 
changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change 

2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25 2024/25

LGPS

Fire 

fighters Total LGPS

Fire 

Fighters Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(20,232) (227,347) (247,579) Present value of the liabilities (18,040) (199,840) (217,880)

23,146 0 23,146 Fair Value of Plan Assets 23,303 0 23,303

2,914 (227,347) (224,433) 5,263 (199,840) (194,577)

(3,090) 0 (3,090) Effect of Asset Ceiling (5,414) 0 (5,414)

(176) (227,347) (227,523)
Net Liability/(Asset) arising from defined benefit 

obligation
(151) (199,840) (199,991)

2023/24 2023/24 NWFC NWFC

NWFC

NWFC @ 

25% 25%

£000 £000

(13,011) (3,253) Present value of the liabilities (10,959) (2,740)

14,280 3,570 Fair Value of Plan Assets 15,078 3,770

1,269 317 4,119 1,030

(1,269) (317) Effect of Asset Ceiling (4,119) (1,030)

0 0
Net Liability/(Asset) arising from defined benefit 

obligation
0 0
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that the assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant. The 
assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or decreases for men 
and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the 
scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method. The methods and types of 
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the 
previous period.  
 
 

 
 
Sensitivity analysis for LGPS: 
 

 
 
Sensitivity analysis for the Firefighters pension scheme: 
 

 

2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25

LGPS Fire fighters LGPS

Fire 

fighters

£000 £000 £000 £000

Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners (age 60 for Fire):

21.50 25.30 Men 21.50 25.30

23.90 25.30 Women 24.00 25.30

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners (age 60 for Fire):

22.80 27.30 Men 22.80 27.30

25.70 27.30 Women 25.70 27.30

2.70% 2.70% Rate of Inflation (CPI) 2.60% 2.60%

4.20% Rate of Increase in Salaries 4.10%

3.95% Rate of revaluation of CARE Pensions 3.85%

2.80% 2.80% Rate of increase in Pensions 2.70% 2.70%

4.90% 4.80% Rate of discounting Scheme Liabilities 5.80% 5.80%

2024/25

+0.5% p.a. 

discount 

Rate

+0.25% p.a. 

inflation

+0.25% Pay 

Growth

1 Year 

Increase in 

Life 

Expectancy

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

+1% -1%

(18,040) Liability (16,848) (18,667) (18,138) (18,407) (18,040) (18,040)

23,303 Assets 23,303 23,303 23,303 23,303 23,535 23,071

5,263 (Deficit) / Surplus 6,455 4,636 5,165 4,896 5,495 5,031

309
Projected Service Cost for Next 

Year
269 331 309 317 309 309

(319)
Projected Net Interest Cost for 

Next Year
(421) (281) (312) (296) (332) (305)

+/-1% change in 2023/24 

investment returns

2024/25

+0.5% p.a. 

discount 

Rate

+0.25% p.a. 

inflation

+0.25% Pay 

Growth

1 Year 

Increase in 

Life 

Expectancy

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(199,840) Liability (185,721) (207,739) (201,511) (203,733)

0 Assets 0 0 0 0

(199,840) (Deficit) / Surplus (185,721) (207,739) (201,511) (203,733)

1,975 1,582 2,205 1,992 2,032

11,289 11,375 11,748 11,386 11,514

Projected Service Cost for Next Year

Projected Net Interest Cost for Next Year
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The Fire Pension Scheme has no assets to cover its liabilities.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme’s assets consist of the following categories, by proportion of the total assets held: 

 

 
 
 

4.35 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
The items below are classified as contingent assets or liabilities: 

 
(a) Special retained members (Matthews)  

In November 2018 a ruling on the legal case involving part time judges (O’Brien v MoJ) 
has a direct impact on the equivalent firefighters (Matthews). Home Office Ministers 
agreed to extend the pension entitlement to eligible retained firefighters to cover service 
pre-July 2000. The Memorandum of Understanding signed in March 2022 sets out the 
intended scope and operation of the options exercise required to enact remedy in this 
case.  
 
This options exercise has now commenced and will increase the pension entitlement for 
some current special retained members and also allow access to the scheme for 
additional historic retained firefighters.  
 
The Authority have now written to all affected members and this exercise will continue into 
2025/26 where required. Members have now started receiving payments and will continue 
to do so into 2025/26. 
 
The Home Office have undertaken a detailed exercise and have estimated the distribution 
of eligible members between FRAs based on eligible firefighter estimates collected 
through the December 2023 survey of FRAs, with gaps filled using the July 2022 survey (if 
available) or the 2020 valuation data breakdown of overall retained active members for 
each FRA. The total Matthews cashflows have been split by looking at the proportion of 
eligible members for each FRA in this distribution. The Authority received a payment of 
£9.300m in July 2024 as part of the annual pension top-up payment as this pension 
liability will be fully funded by Government.  
 

(b) Age Discrimination and the McCloud Sargeant judgement 
In 2014 and 2015 the government set out reforms to public sector pensions, allowing older 
workers to stay in their existing schemes while younger members moved to new ones. In 
2018 the Court of Appeal ruled that the reforms discriminated against younger members 
of the schemes. The government accepted the judgment and agreed to make changes to 
all public service pension schemes the McCloud/Sargeant remedy.  
 
Due to delays in implementing remedy, it is expected that the McCloud/Sargeant remedy 
contribution compensation payments to members, projected to occur in 2023-24 will fall 
into 2024-25. Similar to the above Matthews case, the Home Office have undertaken a 
detailed exercise and have estimated the distribution to eligible members between FRAs. 

2023/24 2024/25

LGPS LGPS

£000 £000

8,958 Equity Investments 8,063

3,055 Bonds 3,379

1,713 Property 1,817

393 Cash/Liquidity 350

9,027 Other Assets 9,694

23,146 23,303
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The Authority received a payment of £1.170m in July 2024 as part of the annual pension 
top-up payment as this pension liability will be fully funded by Government.   
 
 

4.36 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Chief Finance Officer on 30 June 2025.  
Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes.  Where 
events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2025, 
the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect 
the impact of this information.   
 
On 1 April 2025, governmental responsibility for Fire and Rescue Services transferred from Home 
Office to Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government.   
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Cash-Flow Statement 
 

4.37 Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

(111) (Surplus) / Deficit on the Provision of Services 4,836

Adjustments to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of 

services for non cash movements

(1,441) Depreciation and revaluation charges (2,189)

0 IFRS16 Remeasurements 1,035

0 Carrying amount of non current assets sold

(4,648) Pension (IAS 19) (4,909)

323 Increase/(decrease) in inventories 216

7,002 Increase/(decrease) in debtors (7,137)

(9,941) (Increase)/decrease in creditors (6,827)

13
Other non-cash items charged to net surplus/deficit on provision of 

services
53

(8,692) (19,758)

Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services that are investing and financing activities

9
Gain/(Loss) from the sale of property plant and equipment, investment 

property and intangible assets
42

0 Purchase of short and long term investments 1,000

27 Capital Grants charged to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

36 1,042

(8,767) Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities (13,880)

Shown within Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

1,307 Interest Payable 1,360

(575) Interest Receivable (840)

(384) 520
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4.38 Cash Flow Statement – Investing and Financing Activities 

 

 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000

Investing Activities

1,871
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and 

Intangible Assets
2,116

(9)
Proceeds from the sale of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment 

Property and Intangible Assets
(47)

20 Other Receipts from Investing Activities (18)

1,882 Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 2,051

Financing Activities

Other payments for financing activities

492 Repayments of Short and Long Term Borrowing (402)

492 Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (402)
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SECTION 5 – SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
5.1 Firefighters’ Pension Fund Account 

 

 
 

 

 

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Note £000

Income to the Fund

Contributions Receivable

(3,345) From Employer 7 (4,533)

(1,543) From Members 9 (1,929)

(4,888) (6,462)

Transfers in

(41) Individual transfers in from other schemes (20)

(4,929) TOTAL INCOME (6,482)

Expenditure by the Fund

Benefits Payable

6,907    Pensions 7,460

1,475    Ill Health and Injury 1,466

1,679    Lump Sums 1,684

721    Lump Sum Death Benefits & Widows Pensions 708

10,782 11,318

Payments to and on account of leavers

79 Individual transfers out to other schemes 714

10,861 TOTAL EXPENDITURE 12,032

5,932 Net amount payable for the year 5,550

(5,932) Top up grant receivable from Central Government 10 (5,550)

0 Net Fund position for year 0

2023/24 2024/25

£000 Net Current Assets and Liabilities Note £000

Net Current Assets and Liabilities

1,967
Top Up grant receivable/(received) from Central 

Government
0

646 Prepaid Pensions 679

0 Other current assets 383

2,613 Current Assets 1,062

(2,613) Other current liabilities 5,767

0 Pension funding surplus - payable to Government (6,829)

(2,613) Current Liabilities (1,062)

0 Total 0
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NOTES TO FIREFIGHTERS’ PENSION FUND ACCOUNT  

Notes to the Firefighters Pension Fund Statement     

   

1.    This statement has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in Great Britain. 

2.   Three pension schemes operate within the Fund, the 1992 scheme, the 2006 scheme, and 

the 2015 scheme  

3.    The Fund is administered and managed according to the statutory requirements set out in 

the 1992, 2006, and 2015 scheme legislation.      

4.    The Firefighters Pension Schemes are unfunded and as such have no investment assets. 

They are funded through employee and employer contributions and Government grant. 

5.    All firefighter pension related benefits are charged to the Firefighters Pension Fund Account 

with the exception of costs relating to non-member retirement on ill health grounds and all 

costs relating to injury pensions, which are charged to the Fire Service Operating Account 

(revenue).  

6.   The Fund Account captures income and liabilities relevant to the period shown and therefore 

does not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the period end. 

7.    Normal Employer contributions are made as follows:      

• 2015 scheme 37.6% of pensionable pay  in 2024/25 

 

There have been no active Employer contributions being made to either the 1992 or 2006 

schemes since all members transitioned into the 2015 scheme on 1 April 2022. 

       

8.    For any retirement on ill health grounds the Fire Service is required to make a payment to 

the Pension Fund from its revenue account. This is payable over 3 years. There were 0 

retirements of scheme members on ill health grounds 

9.    Members contributions, for all Fire pensions schemes, changed to having banded 

contribution rates in 2013/14. The bandings for the active 2015 scheme are as follows:

   

2015 scheme members   

Pensionable Pay FPS 2015 

Up to £27,818 
             

11.0  

£27,819 to £51,515 
             

12.9  

£51,516 to £142,500 
             

13.5  

£142,501 or more 
             

14.5  

 

10. These accounts have been prepared on an accruals basis.    



CUMBRIA COMMISSIONER FIRE AND SAFETY AUTHORITY – UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25 

82 
 
 

SECTION 6 – ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

 
 
 

Cumbria Commissioner Fire & Rescue Authority 
 

Annual Governance Statement – Good Governance Principles 2024-25 
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Introduction and Scope of Responsibilities 
The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (the Commissioner) in his capacity as Cumbria Commissioner Fire & Rescue Authority (the 
Authority) is responsible for ensuring business is carried out in accordance with the law and proper standards, that public money is safeguarded and 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.    
 
To meet this overall responsibility, the Commissioner has put in place proper arrangements for overseeing what we do.  These arrangements are 
intended to make sure that we do the right things, in the right way and are fair, open, honest and accountable.  
 
Our arrangements for governance are set out within a Code of Corporate Governance (‘The Code’). The Code explains the way the Commissioner 
governs and the frameworks that are in place to support the overall arrangements for fulfilling his functions. The Code of Corporate Governance is 
published alongside the Annual Governance Statement on the Commissioner’s website at www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk   
 
This Annual Governance Statement (AGS) describes how the Commissioner has followed The Code.  It also meets the requirements of regulation 
6(1) and 10(1) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The regulations say that we must prepare and publish an Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS) to accompany the Commissioner’s statement of accounts.  

  
REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS  

The key systems and processes that comprise the Commissioner’s governance arrangements for 2024/25 have been guided by the seven core 
principles of Corporate Governance from the CIPFA/Solace Governance Framework applicable to the 2024/25 financial year.  This is the standard 
against which all local government bodies, including fire, should assess themselves.  
The Commissioner has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of his governance framework including the system 
of internal control.  The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of Chief Officers and senior managers who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment.  The review process comprises:  

▪ A cyclical detailed review of the key documents within the Commissioner’s governance framework.   

▪ A review of the governance arrangements in place to support each core principle, culminating in an updated Code of Corporate governance.  

▪ A review of what has happened during the past year to evidence how the governance framework has been complied with.    

▪ A review of the effectiveness of the arrangements for Internal Audit. The review is supported by consideration of the opinion of the Head of Internal 
Audit, as set out in his annual report.   

▪ A review of the effectiveness of the Joint Audit Committee against CIPFA guidance on Audit Committees for Fire.    
 

http://www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/
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The following Annual Governance Statement demonstrates how the Commissioner has complied with the governance framework set out within The 
Code to meet each of the seven governance principles. The Annual Governance Statement is published alongside the Statement of Accounts and 
also incorporates an action plan of planned future improvements for governance arrangements.      
 
The RAG ratings in the table below show where we were with the requirements for 2024/25. 

 
The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the Authority is directed and controlled and its 
activities through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the community. It enables the Authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic 
objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 
 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system 

of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Authority’s policies, aims 
and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively, and economically. 
 
  
The Governance Framework 
The Authority’s Local Code of Corporate Governance set out its framework for corporate governance. The key elements of the systems and processes 
that comprise the Authority’s governance arrangements which include: 
 

• The Police, Fire and Crime Plan sets the direction of the Commissioner and the Authority 

• The Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) sets out the direction of the Service and how we will make Lancashire safer. It is informed 
by the greatest risks to the people and communities of Cumbria.  The plan describes our aim, priorities, equality objectives and values, 
alongside how we will prevent, protect, and respond to the risks in Cumbria.  

 
Significant governance issues 
On the basis of the review of the sources of assurance set out in this statement, we are satisfied that Cumbria Commissioner Fire and Rescue 
Authority and Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service have in place a satisfactory system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its 
functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
 
At the start of 2024/25, a new Commissioner was elected and during 2024/25 an inspection was undertaken by His Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabularies and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) with the outcome of the inspection published in July 2025.  The inspection recorded 
significant improvements had been made across the service with five ‘Good’ ratings and six ‘Requires Improvement’ ratings.  This was a significant 
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improvement from the 2023 inspection.   A number of improvement recommendations were made, and these are being monitored through the Authority 
and Service’s governance framework. 
 
Changes were made to the Leadership Team during the year and a restructure of the Senior Leadership team undertaken to ensure the strategic 
goals of the Service can be delivered.  Two new Assistant Chief Fire Officer’s were appointed to support the Chief Fire Officer. 
 
Monthly Executive Board – Fire meetings were held with the Commissioner as well as Public Accountability Conferences where the Commissioner 
received assurances from the Service on the operational aspects being undertaken, performance and progress against inspection and audit action 
plans.  Progress on audit and risk was monitored closely by the Joint Audit Committee and the Community Scrutiny Panel continued to provide ‘critical 
friend’ analysis of operational aspects of the service, particularly around HR and People practices. 
 
The service and authority engaged with other external stakeholders such as Safer Cumbria, Cumbria Road Safety Partnership, Cumbria Safeguarding 
Children’s partnership, and the Local Resilience Forum. 
 
Financial monitoring continued to be maintained, and the implementation of its own Financial Ledger system in April 2024, enabled much more 
accurate reporting to be undertaken and reporting to be developed for the needs of the Service. 
 
Weekly briefings were issued to all members of the service to ensure they are collectively kept informed of how the service is doing, what is happening 
and notification of significant events.  These were supplemented with an Annual Awards Ceremony to recognise the achievements of the Service 
team and Leadership Away Days. 
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Core Principle A:  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law  
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/ 
Updates 

RAG 

A1:       Behaving with Integrity and demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values.   

We ensure that members and officers behave 
with integrity and lead a culture where acting 
in the public interest is visibly and consistently 
demonstrated thereby protecting the 
reputation of the organisation  
 
  

▪ Members of the Community Scrutiny Panel and the Joint Audit 
Committee all sign a Code of Conduct as part of their appointment 
and induction process   
 

▪ The Fire and Rescue Service locally and nationally through the 
National Fire Chiefs’ Council has adopted the Core Code of 
Ethics which consists of five ethical principles.  The principles 
underpin our commitment to serving the communities of Cumbria 
  

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service regularly communicates the core code 
of ethics to all staff and expected behaviours. 

  

We take the lead in establishing specific 
standard operating principles or values for the 
organisation and its staff and that they are 
communicated and understood. These should 
build on the Seven Principles of Public Life 
(the Nolan Principles) 
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority is compliant with the CIPFA 
Statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government.  The Chief Finance Officer performs the duties of 
the S151 Officer, and it is their role to ensure the proper 
administration of the Authority’s financial affairs   
 

▪ The Chief Finance Officer is a qualified accountant and is 
supported by a Finance Team that includes a number of 
professionally qualified finance officers 

The Service Leadership 
Team has recently 
agreed a set of core 
values that all members 
should display 

 

We lead by example and use standard 
operating principles or values as a framework 
for decision making and other actions.   

▪ CCFRA and CFRS have a robust decision-making process 
embedded within its Corporate Governance Framework.  This 
framework includes the delegations made to each key officer. 
 

▪ In accordance with the CIPFA guidance, the Chief Finance Officer 
is a key member of the Fire & Rescue Service Leadership Team, 
helping to develop and implement strategy and to resource and 
deliver the Authority’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the 
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Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/ 
Updates 

RAG 

public interest.  They are also actively involved in all material 
business decisions to ensure immediate and longer-term 
implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and 
aligned with the Fire & Rescue Authority’s financial strategy.   
 

▪ The Chief Finance Officer leads on the promotion and delivery of 
good financial management so that public money is safeguarded 
at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently, and 
effectively.  
 

▪ The Chief Executive of the OPFCC is the Monitoring Officer for 
the Fire & Rescue Authority as set out in section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, whose role is to advise on 
the rule of law and ensure decision-making is legally sound. 
 

▪ The Chief Fire Officer is the Head of Paid Service for the Fire & 
Rescue Authority and is responsible for the coordination and 
discharge of the functions of the Fire & Rescue Service . 
 

▪ The Community Scrutiny panel carry out the role of a `standards 
committee’ across the Fire & Rescue Service and act as a critical 
friend, providing advice and guidance to help the Fire & Rescue 
Authority and Fire & Rescue Service to maintain high standards 
of integrity and ethical working. 

 
 

We demonstrate how we communicate and 
embed the standard operating principles or 
values through appropriate policies and 
processes which are reviewed on a regular 
basis to ensure that they are operating 
effectively 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has introduced a new Workforce 
Complaints procedure, making it easier for staff to raise issues 
and have access to welfare officers who can support them. The 
Service has also updated its Whistleblowing Policy.  CCFRA 
reports on the effectiveness of these arrangements on an annual 
basis to the Joint Audit Committee.  
 

All strategic documents 
have recently been 
reviewed, with a 
consistent approach that 
allows the Service to 
demonstrate how it is 
incorporating its value. 
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Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/ 
Updates 

RAG 

 ▪ The Service has an Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Guidance 
document, also Anti-Fraud and Corruption arrangements, which 
includes mechanisms for confidential reporting and 
whistleblowing. These arrangements are reported to the Joint 
Audit Committee on a bi-annual basis. CFRS website has 
information on how members of the public can make complaints 
regarding different staff, officers, members and volunteers.   

 
▪ In Autumn 2023, HMICFRS undertook a thematic inspection of 

the handling of misconduct in fire and rescue services.  The 
inspection was undertaken across a number of Fire & Rescue 
Services and a generic report was published on 1st August 2024.  
The report details 15 recommendations for services to adopt.  
Cumbria Fire & Rescue Service has carried out an initial gap 
analysis of their processes and approach against the 
recommendations.  This is being monitored through an internal 
governance board chaired by the Police, Fire & Crime 
Commissioner.  13 of the 15 recommendations have been 
completed 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A further piece of work 
will involve the Service 
considering the language 
used in its range of 
strategic documents to 
ensure it si appropriate 
and consistent. 

A2:    Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values  
 

Seeking to establish, monitor and maintain the 
organisation’s ethical standards and 
performance 
 
 

▪ The Community Scrutiny Panel provides advice and guidance to 
help CCFRA and the Fire & Rescue Service to maintain high 
standards of integrity and ethical working.  During 2024/25 the 
Panel have carried out dip sample processes and thematic 
inspections across different areas of business within fire  
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Evidence Improvements/ 
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▪ The Community Scrutiny Panel continues to monitor and reports 
on some specific areas of activity, such as complaint handling 
and misconduct cases, in relation to ethical issues.   

Underpinning personal behaviour with ethical 
values and ensuring they permeate all aspects 
of the organisation’s culture and operation 
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has invested in Leadership Training 
across all levels of management in the Service, which specifically 
included the core code of ethics.  Visits have been undertaken 
with all staff, both operational and corporate, providing an 
opportunity to make sure values and behaviours are understood 
and demonstrated by all staff.  
 

▪ The Service also regularly references the core code of ethics and 
expected behaviours to all staff in its regular communications and 
strategic documents.. 
 

▪ The Service has developed and issued a ‘how to complain' poster 
to all stations, advertising a Crimestoppers anonymous line 
available to raise complaints.  This reporting line has been 
introduced to give staff the confidence to report issues if there are 
other reasons making them feel reluctant to do so. 

 
 

  

Developing and maintaining robust policies 
and procedures which place emphasis on 
agreed ethical values 
 
 

▪ When the Service was part of Cumbria County Council, it did not 
have fire specific policies and procedures meaning a number of 
opportunities were missed to ensure that staff were working 
within a policy framework specifically focussed on fire.  The 
change in Governance has meant during the last year, the 
Service has undertaken an extensive review of its policies and 
procedures ensuring they are fit for purpose and place emphasis 
on the core code of conduct and ethical values important to the 
Service.   

 

• Our key strategic documents have been reviewed by HMICFRS 
as part of their latest service inspection 

A shared procurement 
function with the 
Constabulary ensures 
that ethical values are 
considered in any 
activity. 

 



CUMBRIA COMMISSIONER FIRE AND SAFETY AUTHORITY – UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25 

90 
 
 

Details How We Meet these 
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Evidence Improvements/ 
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RAG 

 
▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority has a sustainable Procurement and 

Commissioning Strategy which provides a framework that 
ensures the Service obtains optimum value for money in all of its 
procurement and commissioning activity that supports the 
principles and priorities of sustainable development. 

Ensuring that external providers of services on 
behalf of the organisation are required to act 
with integrity and in compliance with high 
ethical standards expected by the organisation 
 
 
 

▪ The new Procurement Act 2023 has gone live and the Fire & 
Rescue Authority has reviewed its policies and procedures to 
align with the requirements of the Act. 
 

▪ a shared Procurement function has been established with 
Cumbria Constabulary that will enable joint contractual 
arrangements between Policing and Fire to improve efficiencies.  
This will ensure that all contractors are appropriately vetted to the 
standard required by Policing.     

 
 
 

  

A3 Respecting the rule of law  

We ensure staff demonstrate a strong 
commitment to the rule of the law as well as 
adhering to relevant laws and regulations 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a Service Level Agreement with 
one of the unitary councils to deliver legal support to the Fire 
Authority and Fire & Rescue Service on all legal matters. 
 

▪ The Chief Executive of the OPFCC is the Monitoring Officer for 
the Fire & Rescue Authority and has specific legal requirements 
in legislation for ensuring legality for investigating any suspected 
instances of failure to comply with these requirements and for 
reporting any such instances to the PFCC, JAC or the Police, Fire 
& Crime Panel. 

The OPFCC is currently 
in the process of trying to 
recruit a new head of 
legal. 

 

We create conditions to ensure that statutory 
officers, other key post holders and members 
are able to fulfil their responsibilities in 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority has a Corporate Governance 
Framework and Decision-Making processes.  These both provide 
guidance on expected behaviours to ensure integrity, 
transparency and excellent standards of ethical behaviours in 
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Evidence Improvements/ 
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RAG 

accordance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements. 
 

accordance with legislative and regulatory requirements.  The 
Joint Audit Committee. Is responsible for reviewing these on an 
annual basis. 
 

▪ Compliance with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government is reported through the 
annual governance statement which accompanies the annual 
statement of accounts.   

We strive to optimise the use of the full powers 
available for the benefit of citizens, 
communities and other stakeholder 
 

Legal advice is provided to the Fire & Rescue Authority and the 
Fire & Rescue Service by the unitary council’s Legal Services 
Department.  If necessary, legal advice can be sought from other 
legal bodies.   
 

▪ The Protection team has access to dedicated legal advice to 
allow it to carry out its statutory responsibilities. 
 

  

We deal with breaches of legal and regulatory 
provisions effectively.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service investigates all instances of Fraud, 
Corruption and Whistleblowing and the Chief Finance Officer, the 
PFCC and the Monitoring Officer have specific responsibilities for 
ensuring both organisations comply effectively with legal and 
regulatory provisions.  
 

▪ Policies are in place for Anti-Fraud & Corruption, and Anti-Money 
Laundering. 
 

▪ Mechanisms exist to ensure that the Fire & Rescue Service is 
compliant with Health and Safety Legislation. The Service has 
systems in place to support the reporting and investigation of all 
accidents and near misses.  This helps in limiting potential for 
recurrence, increases learning from incidents and creates a safer 
environment with a positive Health and Safety culture. 
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We ensure corruption and misuse of power 
are dealt with effectively.   
 

▪ Anti-Fraud & Corruption arrangements were last reviewed in 
2024/2025 and presented to the Joint Audit Committee who 
concluded that the arrangements were effective. 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority provides annual reports to the 
Committee on the effectiveness of the arrangements.   
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Core Principle B:  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

B1 Openness 

We ensure there is an open culture through 
demonstrating, documenting and communicating 
the organisation’s commitment to openness 

 

▪ An Annual Statement of Assurance is prepared, agreed and 
published. 
 

▪ The Service has an established process for receiving and 
responding to Freedom of Information Requests, Environmental 
Information Requests and Subject Access Requests in line with 
specified timescales.   
 

▪ The OPFCC and Fire & Rescue Service websites are used to 
publish a wide range of policy and information about the Service, 
making this easily accessible to the public. 
 

▪ The PFCC chairs a Public Accountability Conference every 
quarter whereby they hold the Chief Fire Officer and their 
Principal Officer Team to account.  These meetings are open to 
the public.  All agendas and presentations are available on the 
OPFCC website.  The minutes of the meeting are also published 
to transparently demonstrate the PFCC holding the Chief Fire 
Officer to account in line with the PFCC’s statutory role. 

Introduce the facility for 
members of the public to 
submit questions for 
consideration at all PACs. 
 
Updates on Information 
Governance to be provided 
regularly to Fire Executive 
Board 

 

We make decisions that are open about actions, 
plans, resource use, forecasts, outputs and 
outcomes.   

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & Rescue Service has a 
robust decision-making policy.   Decisions made by the PFCC are 
published on the OPFCC website.  
 

▪ To promote openness and transparency, all Public Accountability 
Conferences are open to members of the press and public to 
attend, with all minutes arising from them being published 
subsequently   
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Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

We provide clear reasoning and evidence for 
decisions in both public records and explanations 
to stakeholders.   

A decision template has been developed for the Fire & Rescue 
Authority and the Fire & Rescue Service to use.  There is a 
requirement to include all information, rationales, risks and legal 
issues and the scheme of delegation highlights the required sign-
off 
 

▪ Minutes from meetings illustrate discussions and rationales for 
decisions made 
 

▪ There are agreed timescales for the publication of information 
(including minutes and decisions) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Decision template to be 
revised to allow a 
consistent approach 
across all meetings. 

 

We use formal and informal consultation and 
engagement to determine the most appropriate 
and effective interventions or courses of action. 

 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a Communication and 
Engagement Strategy 
 

▪ During 2024, the Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & Rescue 
Service consulted with the public on the priorities in the Fire & 
Rescue Plan and Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP).  
Consultation included both staff and public.  The results of the 
consultation were reported to the Police, Fire & Crime Panel to 
aid their decision when approving the Plan 
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Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

▪ Where required, we consult on any new proposals as a result of 
action within the CRMP.  Mechanisms also exist for risk to be 
raised with the Service through a number of channels. 

▪ The PFCC also undertook public consultation to inform the setting 
of the Fire & Rescue Service percept for 2024/2025 
   

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service engages with various groups, 
organisations, and people throughout the year, organises 
community engagement events providing updates on the work of 
the Service.  This also enables the public to ask the Service 
questions and provide feedback.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B2 Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders  

Effectively engage with stakeholders to develop 
formal and informal partnerships to allow 
recourses to be used efficiently  

 

▪ The Commissioner in his capacity as the Fire Authority is actively 
engaged with a wide range of bodies to encourage a multi-agency 
approach to matters within his remit.  For example, he chairs 
Safer Cumbria (a strategic board) that has responsibility for 
delivery of the Serious Violence Duty.   
 

CFRS participates 
effectively in a wide range 
of partnerships, including 
Water Safety, Road 
Safety, Safeguarding and 
Community Safety 

 

We develop formal and informal partnerships to 
allow for resources to be used efficiently and 
outcomes achieved more effectively. 

• Working in partnership with others is one of the key parts of the 
Authority’s ethos.  For example, the Commissioner chairs a Blue 
Light Collaboration board which has brought together the police 
and fire estates function into a single shared service.  
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 • There are formal arrangements in place with both local authorities 
to ensure high risk individuals receive a home fire safety visit 
 

• The Fire & Rescue Service works closely with a wide range of 
partners; local authorities, NHS, policing, third sector 
organisations, etc. to deliver interventions on a number of areas 
such as Water Safety, Road Traffic Collisions (RTCS), 
Safeguarding and Modern Slavery. 

 

• Over the last twelve months, the Fire & Rescue Service has 
worked with Cumbria Constabulary through the Cumbria Road 
Safety Partnership to ensure activity is targeted effectively and 
efficiently. 

 

• Cumbria Constabulary has introduced ‘Right Care, Right Person’ 
where a large number of incidents that they previously dealt with, 
are now picked up by a range of partner agencies, including the 
Fire & Rescue Service.  The Service has worked with the 
Constabulary to ensure they are not overwhelmed by any 
increased demand. 

We ensure that partnerships are based on trust, 
shared commitment to change, a culture that 
promotes and accepts challenge and the added 
value of partnership working is explicit. 

• Partnerships we engage with are regularly reviewed.  Our core 
code of ethics ensures that we engage with partnerships in good 
faith, ready to work with partners to deliver for the people of 
Cumbria.  

  
 
 

B3 Engaging stakeholders effectively including citizens and service users  
 

We are clear on the types of issues we will 
consult with or involve stakeholders or service 
users to ensure service provision is contributing 
towards the achievement of intended outcomes.   

▪ The PFCC leads the Safer Cumbria partnership which provides 
strategic input into key strategies and plans that support the joint 
delivery of priority outcomes critical to Cumbria. 
 

▪ During 2024/2025 engagement included visits to several Fire 
Stations and attendance at On-Call Appreciation events. 
 

Development of an 
Operational Cover Review 
will necessitate a 
comprehensive round of 
consultation with all 
interested parties on any 
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 ▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority launched public consultation on the 
proposal to increase the fire part of the council tax precept for 
2025/2026 The Fire & Rescue Authority logs all quality-of-service 
issues that are raised with the Commissioner, these are tracked 
and escalated with the Chief Fire Officer where appropriate.  

changes to service 
delivery. 

We ensure that communication methods are 
effective and that we are clear about our roles 
with regard to community engagement. 

 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a Communication and 
Engagement Strategy.  The Service regularly works with the 
PFCCs Office to ensure its engagement is fit for purpose. 
 

▪ For large engagement such as the CRMP, the Service regularly 
reviews who and how it will consult with the public and partners. 

 
 

  

We collect and evaluate the views and 
experiences of communities, service users and 
organisations 

 

• The Fire & Rescue Authority logs all quality-of-service issues that 
are raised, these are tracked and escalated with the Chief Fire 
Officer where appropriate.  Quality of Service Issues raised with 
the Chief Fire Officer are addressed within Service. 

 
The CRMP reflects the Service’s risk profile.  This process 
enables the Service to be clear about the levels of risk that exist, 
influencing prevention, protection and response arrangements.  
In 2024, CFRS went through a comprehensive process to 
develop a CRMP to covers the years 2025-2028.  This process 
involved the creation of a comprehensive Risk Based Evidence 
Profile using the latest available data and a comprehensive 
engagement programme. 

 

• All complaints and compliments are considered by the Service. 

  

We implement effective feedback mechanisms to 
demonstrate how views have been taken into 
account, whilst balancing competing demands. 

▪ All correspondence sent to the Fire & Rescue Authority receives 
an individual and tailored response. 
 

▪ Regular feedback is provided to staff and the Rep bodies in the 
course of Service delivery. 
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We take into account the interests of future 
generations of taxpayers and service users.   

▪ A 5-year Medium Term Financial Forecast is produced along with 
a longer-term Capital investment strategy to account for and 
consider future events that would impact on taxpayers and 
service users. 
 

▪ Budget consultation is undertaken annually. 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority holds the Chief Fire Officer to 
account through its internal governance boards and Public 
Accountability Conferences to ensure value for money from 
service provision.   
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Core Principle C:  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits  
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

C1 Defining outcomes 

We have a clear vision which is an agreed 
formal statement of the organisation’s 
purpose and intended outcomes containing 
appropriate performance indicators, which 
provides the basis for the organisation’s 
overall strategy, planning and other 
decisions 
 
 

▪ A Fire & Rescue Plan, drawing on the results of public 
consultation and a strategic analysis of the community safety 
trends, emerging issues and partner agency feedback, is 
prepared for each Commissioner’s term of office.  This document 
underpins the overarching ambitions for the Fire & Rescue 
Authority which is supported by the Fire & Rescue Service 
CRMP.  The CRMP explains the approach the Service will take 
to support the Plan and sets out the planned activity to deliver 
and achieve the intended outcomes.   
 

▪ The OPFCC is an established office that works beyond 
governance and scrutiny to ensure that there is a longer-term 
strategic direction around all aspects of fire and community safety 
and that when put into practical terms enables or influences 
delivery against the priorities. 
 

▪ Performance indicators are agreed and reported to the PFCC, the 
Fire Senior Leadership Team and the public, showing how 
effectively the priorities are being delivered. 
 

▪ A new CRMP was published in 2024 and takes into consideration 
feedback from the public.  
 
 
 

A revised Police, Fire & Crime 
Plan has been developed for 
April 2025.   

 

We specify the intended impact on, or 
changes for, stakeholders including 
citizens and service users. It could be 

▪ CFRS publishes its CRMP to show direction of travel over the 
next four years. 
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immediately or over the course of a year or 
longer 
  

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service responds to all FOIs that it receives 
and has a publication scheme. 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority publishes its Fire & Rescue Plan 
with an annual report identifying achievements throughout the 
year.   

We deliver defined outcomes on a 
sustainable basis within the resources that 
will be available 
 

▪ Public Accountability Conferences support the Fire & Rescue 
Authority to monitor performance and budget progression.  
During 2024/2025 thematic reports presented at the meetings 
provided assurance on how the Fire & Rescue Service responds 
to a number of issues 
 

▪ An internal Fire Executive Board helps to drive and monitor the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the Fire & Rescue Authority and 
Fire & Rescue Service.  It is the forum whereby the Commissioner 
can maintain oversight of the totality of the fire and rescue service 
in Cumbria.  It enables senior officers from the Fire & Rescue 
Authority and the Service to work together to review key 
issues/challenges affecting service delivery, and identify 
solutions, including how resources can be used. 
 

▪ A Medium-Term financial Plan (MTFP) is produced annually, 
reviewed regularly and updated as necessary setting out the 
financial assumptions and demands upon the Service to highlight 
budgetary pressures and set out options to address any funding 
shortfalls to ensure sustainability.  The MTFP is supplemented by 
a Capital Strategy and Reserves Strategy. 
 

▪ The 2024/2025 budget, council tax levels and MTFP, alongside 
the Capital, Reserves and Treasury Management Strategies 
were considered by the PFCC in proposing and setting the level 
of fire precept. 
 

The establishment of a Service 
Improvement Board will allow a 
focus on all aspects of the 
business to ensure outcomes 
are delivered. 
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▪ During 2024/2025, the Police, Fire and Crime Panel has 
continued to facilitate effective scrutiny of the Fire & Rescue 
Service budget.  
 

▪ His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) Inspections further supports the Fire & 
Rescue Authority in identifying areas that are working well and 
those that would benefit from improvement. This supports the 
Authority in holding the Chief Fire Officer to account for 
performance of the service.  All reports are publicly available.   
 

▪ Regular news and social media posts published by both the Fire 
& Rescue Authority and Service inform communities of how 
effectively the Service is performing.  

We identify and manage risks to the 
achievement of outcomes.   
  

▪ Performance is reported through quarterly Public Accountability 
Conferences and regularly via the Fire Executive Board and Fire 
Senior Leadership Team.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority and the Fire & Rescue Service 
undertake a continuous review of its risk management 
responsibilities by ensuring that it maintains an up-to-date 
Operational Risk Register and Strategic Risk Register.  This is 
reported quarterly via the Fire Executive Board. 

 
 
 

Both risk registers to be 
merged into one holistic 
document 

 

C2 Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits  
 

We consider and balance the combined 
economic, social and environmental 
impact of policies, plans and decisions 
when taking service provision decisions 

▪ A Capital Investment Strategy is in place, focused on future use, 
with links to the Medium-Term Financial Forecast and compliant 
with the Prudential Code.  This has been revised to ensure 
compliance with the new requirements linking capital investment 
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decisions with the Prudential Code and Treasury Management 
investment decisions. 
 

▪ Equality Impact Assessments are carried out on policies and 
procedures.  This assesses the impact of any changes that may 
affect staff, stakeholders and the public.   
 

▪ Risk management processes are in place and reviewed 
regularly.   
 

▪ The Section 151 officer sits at the Senior Leadership Team and 
is involved in all formal decision-making processes for 
expenditure, including those that relate to any changes to 
programmes, policies and procedures. This helps to ensure 
value for money is achieved within a balanced and sustainable 
budget. 

Taking a longer-term view with regard to 
decision making, taking account of risk and 
acting transparently where there are 
potential conflicts between the 
organisation’s intended outcomes and 
short-term factors such as the political 
cycle or financial constraints 

 

▪ The Corporate Governance Framework provides the basis for 
decision-making and set outs the key roles and responsibilities of 
statutory officers.  
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority publishes on the Commissioner’s 
website: 
o Committee/Panel agendas and reports 
o Minutes of meetings 
o CCFRA decisions 

▪ Where necessary, advice is sought from Finance and Legal 
Services before any decision is made.  All decision papers 
include a section where potential risk implications are identified, 
i.e., legal, human resource, equality, IT, etc.  
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & Rescue Service has 
introduced a process to allow all key decisions to be logged.   
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Determining the wider public interest 
associated with balancing conflicting 
interests between achieving the various 
economic, social and environmental 
benefits, through consultation where 
possible, in order to ensure appropriate 
trade-offs 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & Rescue Service decisions 
are required to be on decision paper to ensure that all issues are 
identified, and risk assessed.  All decision papers are submitted 
for consideration to either the OPFCC Executive Team or the Fire 
Senior Leadership Team. 

  

We ensure that there is fair access to 
services 

 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service resources are distributed so that it 
can respond in regard to risk and demand. 
 

▪ Access to Home Fire Safety Visits is risk based and prioritises 
high risk individuals.   
 

▪ Prevention material and awareness raising is delivered 
countywide based on identified risk. 
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Core Principle D:  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes. 
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

D1 Determining interventions  

We ensure that decision makers receive 
objective and rigorous analysis, including 
achieved & intended outcomes and their 
associated risks.  
 
 

▪ The Corporate Governance Framework includes a decision-
making framework which ensures that all decisions are supported 
by all the relevant information, including financial, legal and other 
appropriate professional advice.  Decisions are formally recorded 
and published subject to confidentiality requirements. There are 
formal arrangements in place to monitor against outcomes 
associated with decision making, performance and financial 
management against the Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & 
Rescue Service.  Monitoring arrangements and their frequencies 
are contained within the Fire & Rescue Authority Accountability 
Framework.  This framework enables detailed scrutiny against 
agreed and expected outcomes and allows for robust challenge 
and necessary intervention by the PFCC if the actions are not 
delivering the expected outcome.  
 

▪ The creation of a new finance team and the introduction of a new 
finance system means that the Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & 
Rescue Service benefits from a focussed and knowledgeable set 
up that facilitates informed decision making. 

  

We consider feedback from citizens and 
service users when making decisions about 
service improvements or where services are 
no longer required to prioritise competing 
demands.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority has a Medium-Term Financial 
Planning process (MTFP) which integrates budget and corporate 
planning to match resources to the priorities (mid-year review of 
MTFP will take into account any revisions to priorities).  
 

▪ There is an annual budget consultation involving the public, local 
businesses, and staff.  Further stakeholder engagement with the 
public is achieved through social media messaging and promotion 
of specific consultations and surveys.   

  

D2:           Planning interventions  
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We establish and implement robust planning 
and control cycles that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities and targets.  
Ensuring that they are flexible and agile to 
adapt delivery outputs and changing 
circumstances.   
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority administers an internal Executive 
Board for Fire which is chaired by the Commissioner to make 
decisions. 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has in place a board structure that 
ensures the Services delivered across Cumbria are fit for purpose. 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service have robust business continuity plans 
in place.  The Service’s approach to business continuity includes 
regular testing of its plans, both in isolation and with partners, thus 
ensuring resilience.  If the Service does come under pressure, 
there is a degradation plan in place that allows for the prioritisation 
of resources to protect the most vulnerable.  This is also tested 
regularly.  

Following the review of 
internal governance, 
changes to internal meeting 
and reporting structure to be 
implemented throughout 
2025 

 

We engage with internal and external 
stakeholders in determining how services and 
other courses of action should be planned and 
delivered.   
 

▪ During the last year, the Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & 
Rescue Service have continued to build on existing collaboration 
and partnerships to address priorities in the Fire & Rescue Plan. 
Projects have included:   
 

▪ Working closely with the new Community Safety Partnerships in 
each of the Local Authority areas.  

▪ Formed a Blue Light Transformation Board to explore 
collaboration opportunities between fire and policing.  This has 
resulted in the appointment of a new Joint Head of Estates which 
has led to improved joint working between the Fire & Rescue 
Service, Cumbria Constabulary and the OPFCC. 
 

▪ We have recently taken the lead in the Water Safety Partnership 
and Road Traffic Collision Partnership, ensuring activity is targeted 
and intelligence led. These are both excellent examples of how the 
Service can add real value and support the communities we serve. 
 

▪ One of the legacies of the Local Government Reform process was 
the Fire & Rescue Service currently has several Service Level 

During 2024/2025, the 
Service Level Agreements 
with the unitary authority 
have been reviewed to drive 
further efficiencies and 
ensure any future 
arrangements meet the 
requirements of the Service. 
 
Consultation processes 
reviewed by HMICFRS as 
part of the inspection.  The 
historic AFI in regard to 
community engagement 
was closed. 
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Agreements with the unitary authorities.  The Fire & Rescue 
Service is working diligently to review these to drive efficiencies 
and ensure that any future delivery arrangements meet the needs 
of the Service. 

We consider and monitor risks facing each 
partner when working collaboratively including 
shared risks.   
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service identifies risks with both unitary 
authorities, through contract management of the Service Level 
Agreements and project management processes.  There is an 
escalation process to the operational and strategic risks registers 
which are monitored by the Fire Executive Board and Senior 
Leadership Team. 

Appropriate mechanisms 
will need to be agreed with 
the OPFCC and 
Constabulary to identify and 
monitor risks of any new 
collaboration arrangements 
as and when they are 
implemented.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

We have established performance indicators 
to identify how the performance of services 
and projects is to be measured.   
  

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority has established an internal 
governance board to help drive and monitor the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Fire Service.  It is the forum whereby the Fire 
& Rescue Authority can maintain oversight of the totality of fire 
across Cumbria.  Performance against budgets is monitored, which 
examines the progress against planned activity and spend against 
sets budgets.  A quarterly performance report against a suite a key 
performance indicators is also provided highlighting any current 
issues or emerging trends. 
 

▪ During the course of 2024/25, the Fire & Rescue Authority held the 
Chief Fire Officer to account through Public Accountability 
Conferences. Through this forum, the Fire & Rescue Authority 
received assurance from the Fire Service across several areas of 
performance.   In the February meeting, the Fire & Rescue 
Authority approved the budget for Cumbria Fire & Rescue Service 
. 

Establishment of the Service 
Improvement Board will 
allow more focus on 
performance and individuals 
to be held to account by the 
Chief Fire Officer 
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Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

▪ The Commissioner in his capacity as the Fire Authority holds 
regular one-to-one meetings with the Chief Fire Officer.  These 
internal meetings allow the Commissioner and the Chief Fire 
Officer to discuss strategic and financial issues, national 
considerations, HMICFRS and anything else that is relevant to the 
successful delivery of the fire service in Cumbria.  This forum 
allows for full and frank conversations in a confidential 
environment.  
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service carried out a review of its key 
performance indicators to ensure they were relevant and 
measurable. Performance is discussed monthly at a number of 
boards across the Service, and any exceptions raised through the 
Fire & Rescue Authority Accountability Framework  

We inform medium and long-term resource 
planning by drawing up realistic estimates of 
revenue and capital expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable funding strategy.   
 

▪ There is a Medium-Term Financial Planning process (MTFP) 
which integrates budget and corporate planning to match 
resources to the priorities (annual review of MTFP will take into 
account any revised corporate priorities).   
 

▪ There is an annual budget consultation involving the public, local 
businesses, and staff. Further stakeholder engagement with the 
public is achieved through social media messaging and promotion 
of specific consultations and surveys.  
 

▪ The budget for 2024/2025 has been balanced, however savings 
will be required from 2026/2027 onwards.   
 

▪ Against this background, modelling of a range of financial 
scenarios through the Medium-Term Financial Planning process, 
undertaken by the Fire & Rescue Authority, have continued to 
inform wider business planning and develop savings proposals, as 
a means of balancing the budget over the medium term. 

Resource planning will be 
improved through the 
delivery of an operational 
cover review which will 
provide the required 
evidence to inform decision 
making. 
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Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

D3 Optimising Achievement of Intended Outcomes  
 

We ensure that the services we commission 
achieve social value  
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a Sustainable Procurement and 
Commissioning Strategy.  
 

▪ A shared procurement function has been developed with Cumbria 
Constabulary which will consider the approach to social value for 
Fire as it has done for Policing. 
 

  

We ensure the achievement of `social value’ 
through service planning and commissioning.  
The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 
states that this is “the additional benefit to the 
community …..over and above the direct 
purchasing of goods, services and outcomes”.   

▪ The Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy 
ensures best value is achieved. This strategy is supported by the 
financial regulations and contract standing orders embed within 
the Corporate Governance Framework. 
 

▪ Frameworks used by the Service ensure social value is considered 
as part of any procurement process. 

  

We ensure the medium-term financial strategy 
sets the context for ongoing decisions on 
significant delivery issues or responses to 
changes in the external environment that may 
arise during the budgetary period in order for 
outcomes to be achieved while optimising 
resource usage.   

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority has a Medium-Term Financial 
Planning process (MTFP) which integrates budget and corporate 
planning to match resources to organisational priorities.  The 
budget is prepared on zero-based budget principles.   
 

▪ The MTFP is reviewed regularly and updated as necessary setting 
out the financial assumptions and demands upon the Service to 
highlight budgetary pressures and set out options to address any 
funding shortfalls to ensure sustainability.  This is reported to the 
Fire Executive Board.  The MTFP is supplemented by a Capital 
Strategy and Reserves Strategy. 
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Core Principle E:  Develop the capacity and capability of CCFRA / CFRS Staff to be effective and to deliver services effectively  
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

E1:       Developing CCFRA / CFRS capacity  
 

We review our operations, performance 
and use of assets on a regular basis to 
ensure their continued effectiveness.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service carries out a wide range of 
assurance functions that ensure we can review our 
performance and improve where possible.  A key part of the 
Service’s assurance includes Operational Assurance, 
Debriefs and Exercising.  Another key area of focus is to 
ensure that we work effectively with our multi-agency 
partners under the Joint Emergency Service Interoperability 
Principles (JESIP).  This approach is reinforced through the 
service using learning from inquests to inform policy, 
procedural reviews and to advise on any improvement to 
operational equipment where necessary.  Operational 
Assurance is used to promote workforce learning by 
identifying examples of good practice and where 
improvements can be made in the delivery of the Service.  
This is captured through the Incident Monitoring processes. 
This work not only supports local learning but includes 
reporting through the national sector learning portals; Joint 
Organisational Learning (JOL) and the National Operational 
Learning (NOL). 
 

▪ Financial performance is regularly reported to the Fire 
Executive Board and is aligned with the budget planning 
process.   In addition, the Police, Fire and Crime Panel 
continues to facilitate effective scrutiny of the Fire & Rescue 
Service budget at its quarterly meeting.  

The creation of the operational 
improvement group and the 
establishment of its relationship to 
the Service Improvement Board 
ensures that effectiveness and 
use of assets is considered in 
decision making on a regular 
basis. 

 

We recognise the benefits of partnership 
and collaborative working where added 
value can be achieved.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service does not operate in isolation.  It 
has in place Section 13/16 arrangements with our five 
neighbouring services that allow for mutual aid to be received 

The Fire & Rescue Authority has 
established an Executive Board – 
Working Together to explore 
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Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

 and delivered.  It also has access to a range of national 
assets if needed to resolve incidents. 
 

▪ The Service works with other Northwest Services to share 
risk information on a regular basis and one of the areas 
where it is currently collaborating on is the impact of 
contaminants. 

further collaboration opportunities 
between fire and policing. 

We develop and maintain an effective 
workforce plan to enhance the strategic 
allocation of resources.  

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a three-year Learning & 
Development Plan (2024-2027). The Workforce 
Development Group meets monthly to address needs in 
vacancies, recruitment, skills, development and succession 
planning.  

Develop a detailed Workforce 
Development Plan properly aligns 
to the Medium-Term Financial 
Plan. 

 

E2 Developing the capability of CCFRA/ CFRS leadership  
 

We develop the capabilities of senior 
management to achieve effective shared 
leadership and to enable the organisation 
to respond successfully to changing legal 
and policy demands as well as economic, 
political and environmental changes and 
risks.  
  
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service is a learning organisation and 
takes every opportunity to allow staff to develop.  To that end 
a comprehensive 360-degree process has been introduced.  
All senior leaders have undergone this process and taken 
onboard the feedback.  The Chief Finance Officer continues 
to receive support from the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Treasurer’s Society (PaCCTS) and the associated technical 
information service. 
 

▪ The Chief Finance Officer is also a member of the NFCC Fire 
Finance Network for all aspects affecting the Fire sector. 
  

▪ A number of senior managers have completed the Executive 
Leadership Programme (ELP). 

360 process needs to be 
implemented across the Service 
to fulfil one of the 
recommendations of the 
HMICFRS Culture and Values 
report. 
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We ensure the Commissioner and the chief 
executive have clearly defined and 
distinctive leadership roles within a 
structure whereby the chief executive leads 
in implementing strategy and managing the 
delivery of Commissioner’s objectives 

▪ The roles and responsibilities of the PFCC and his Executive 
Team are set out in the Corporate Governance Framework. 

 

  

E3 Developing the capability of staff within CCFRA/CFRS 
 

We develop the capability of staff within the 
Fire & Rescue Authority and Fire & Rescue 
Service   

▪ The Workforce Development Group allows the Service to 
have informed discussions about the workforce and the 
training it needs to develop.  The group also supports the 
identification and encouragement of talent, helping 
individuals to put their skills to best use by the Service. 
 

• The Fire & Rescue Service has also reviewed its promotion 
processes to ensure the right people with the right skills are 
promoted. 

The workforce plan needs to be 
developed to reflect the needs of 
all staff members including Green 
book. 

 

We hold staff to account through regular 
performance reviews which take into 
account training or development needs 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has an appraisal process that 
reviews performance and considers the training needs and 
career aspirations of staff.  

Completion rates for the Appraisal 
process need to be improved. 
 
 

 

We ensure that there are arrangements to 
maintain the health and wellbeing of the 
workforce, both physical and mental 
wellbeing.   
 
 

▪ The Service consults its employees on matters affecting 
health and safety, providing information instruction and 
training to all employees.  In addition, the service has 
systems in place to support the reporting and investigation 
of all accidents and near misses.  This helps in limiting the 
potential for recurrence, learning from incidents and creation 
of a safer environment with a positive health and safety 
culture. 

▪ The Service works with its Human Resources Team and the 
Occupational Health Team to promote and support the 
wellbeing of staff.  The Service has a programme of health 

A new mental health App is being 
introduced which will facilitate 
easier access to more up to date 
information.  This needs to be 
rolled out in 2025 
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Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

and wellbeing campaigns and has developed a cohort of 
mental health trainers and first aiders, thereby providing all 
staff with access to support for physical and mental 
wellbeing. 

E4 Developing the capability of members and volunteers appointed by the OPFCC 
 

We develop the capability of appointed 
members and volunteers to assist them in 
performing their roles.   
 
 

▪ Development sessions for the Joint Audit Committee members 
were held over the year.   
 

▪ 360-degree appraisals of senior officers were undertaken in 
June 2024. 
 

▪ Throughout the year the Ethics and Integrity Panel has carried 
out a diverse range of thematic sessions.  Prior to each of 
these they are provided with information to assist them 
understand the business area and officers/staff at the session 
provide further information.  The Panel membership has a 
diverse range of backgrounds, skills and knowledge which 
assists with the different business areas.    
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Core Principle F:  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

F1 Managing Risk 

We recognise that risk management is an 
integral part of all activities and must be 
considered in all aspects of decision 
making.  
 
 

▪ The OPFCC has a Risk Management Strategy which is 
reviewed on a cyclical basis and was last reviewed in 2023. 
This was presented to the Joint Audit Committee in 
November 2023 who gave their approval. 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service also has a risk management 
policy considered by JAC. 
 

▪ The Fire Executive Board receives quarterly risk updates 
from both the Fire & Rescue Authority and Service, ensuring 
the PFCC is fully sighted.  This provides organisational 
assurance that the Authority and Service’s current risk 
exposure is being managed and suitable controls and 
mitigations are in place.  

Following a recommendation by 
JAC, the OPFCC will merge its 
risk register with that of the 
Service to provide one cohesive 
document. 

 

We implement robust and integrated risk 
management arrangements ensuring that 
they are work effectively.   
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority Strategic and Operational risks 
are reviewed by staff on a quarterly basis.  Each risk is 
scored based on probability and level of impact, and the 
outcome is rated using a Red, Amber or Green (RAG status).  
Updates are then reported to the Executive Team Gold for 
oversight and scrutiny at the Fire Executive Board.  
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority’s strategic risk management 
arrangements are reported to the Joint Audit Committee on 
a six-monthly basis. 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service strategic risks are reviewed by 
staff on a regular basis.  Updates are then reported to the 
Fire Senior Leadership Team for oversight and scrutiny as 
well as the Fire Executive Board and JAC.  
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We ensure that responsibilities for 
managing individual risks are clearly 
allocated.   

▪ Each risk identified by the Fire & Rescue Authority and the 
Service identify the risk holder and the overall risk manager 
for that area of business.   

New combined risk register to be 
created 

 

F2 Managing Performance 

We ensure we monitor service delivery 
effectively by securing reports (including 
financial information) on service delivery, 
plans and progress towards outcome 
achievement.     
 

▪ The Chief Fire Officer is held to account for delivery of fire 
objectives through Public Accountability Conferences (PACs).  
The dates for these meetings are agreed 12 months in 
advance.   
 

▪ During 2024/2054 thematic reports presented at the Public 
Accountability Conferences provided assurance on how the 
Fire Service’s responds to its demand across Cumbria 
 

▪ At the Public Accountability Conference in February, the Fire 
& Rescue Authority approved the budget for fire. 
 

▪ Detailed financial reports are presented to, and scrutinised by, 
the Fire Executive Board.  The reports include full details of 
performance against budget for the key reporting areas 
namely; revenue, capital, cash, reserves, and delivery of 
efficiencies and savings. Quarterly reports are also presented 
to and challenged by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.   
 

▪ Performance reports are presented to the Fire Senior 
Leadership Team on a regular basis, performance information 
is available to all staff via a range of Power BI dashboards and 
exceptions are raised by the Head of Safety and Assurance 
where necessary. 
 

▪ Relevant HMICFRS inspections (local, regional and national) 
and other regulatory reports are reviewed and monitored 
through the Fire Executive Board. 
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▪ The Commissioner, in his capacity as the Fire Authority holds 
regular one-to-one meetings with the Chief Fire Officer.   

F2 Robust Internal Control  
 

We evaluate and monitor the Corporate 
Governance Framework, risk management 
arrangements and internal control on a 
regular basis 

▪ A full review of the Corporate Governance Framework was 
carried out in 2024 to harmonise the requirements between 
the Fire Authority, Constabulary and the OPFCC. This 
ensures commonality of requirements around governance 
and controls across the Commissioners portfolio.  

  

We ensure additional assurance on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
framework of governance, risk 
management and control is provided by the 
internal auditor. 

▪ Internal controls have also been reviewed through the annual 
process of management assurances and the annual internal 
audit plan.  

Recent audit gave reasonable 
assurance on the governance in 
place with only minor 
recommendations which have all 
been addressed. 

 

We ensure effective counter fraud and anti-
corruption arrangements are in place.  

▪ Robust arrangements for Anti-Fraud and Corruption are in 
place.  These were presented to the Joint Audit Committee 
in November 2024 and approved.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority provides an annual report to the 
Joint Audit Committee on the effectiveness of these 
arrangements.   

  

F3 Managing Data  

We ensure there are effective 
arrangements for the safe collection, 
storage, use and sharing of data.   
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a Data Protection policy and 
guidance to support staff in receipting, storing and deleting 
data as appropriate. 
 

▪ The Service also has an Information Governance Officer and 
a range of policies to ensure that data is shared, stored and 
managed in line with its requirements. 
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Where information is shared with other 
organisations we ensure there are effective 
arrangements for data sharing in place.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Service has a number of information 
sharing agreements with partner agencies.   
 

▪ Members of the Ethics and Integrity Panel and our volunteers 
all sign confidentiality agreements to cover any information 
they are made aware of as part of their respective roles.   

Review of existing data sharing 
protocols 

 

F4 Strong Public Financial Management  

Ensuring financial management supports 
both long-term achievement of outcomes 
and short-term financial and operational 
performance.  
 
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority has a duty to comply with the 
key principles contained within the revised CIPFA statement 
of the ‘Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government’ and the CCFRA continues to comply with 5 key 
principles of the CIPFA statement. 
  

▪ The CFRS Chief Finance Officer (S151 Officer) is a qualified 
accountant and is a key member of the CFRS Senior 
Leadership Team and as such, has direct access to the Chief 
Fire Officer.  
 

▪ The Chief Finance Officer is supported by a capable and fully 
resourced finance team in the Fire & Rescue Service, who 
support the proper administration of the financial affairs, 
including leading the promotion and delivery of good financial 
management to safeguard public money at all times; to 
ensure the effective, efficient and economic use of 
resources; and to ensure that the short and long term 
implications of all material business decisions are fully 
considered and aligned to the  Medium Term Financial Plan 
. 

▪ The main controls for financial management are set out in the 
Corporate Governance Framework – these are the Budget 
and Policy Framework and the Financial Regulations.  These 
cover the arrangements for Financial Management, Financial 
Planning, Risk Management and Control of Resources, 
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Financial Systems and Procedures and External 
arrangements. The Fire & Rescue Authority also complies 
with the Prudential Framework for Local Authority Finance. 

We ensure well-developed financial 
management is integrated at all levels of 
planning and control, including 
management of financial risks and controls.   

▪ Financial implications and impact on service delivery is 
reported to Executive Team Gold, Fire Executive Board and 
Police, Fire and Crime Panel. 
 

▪ An Expenditure Management Group is held monthly with 
budget managers and looks at management accounts , 
forecast spend, capital and efficiencies. 
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Core Principle G:  Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability.   
 

 

Details How We Meet these 
Principles 

Evidence Improvements/Updates RAG 

G1 Implementing good practice in transparency 

We report at least annually on 
performance, value for money and the 
stewardship of its resources.   
 

▪ Throughout the year the Fire & Rescue Authority has 
published regular financial monitoring information in a short 
and succinct format that aims to increase the transparency 
and accessibility of financial information.  The outturn reports 
were presented to Police, Fire and Crime Panel in September 
2024. 
 

▪ An Annual Report is published in the autumn of each year.   

OPFCC Annual Report has been 
developed and published in autumn 
2024.   

 

We ensure robust arrangements for 
assessing the extent to which the principles 
contained in the Framework have been 
applied and publishing the results on this 
assessment including an action plan for 
improvement and evidence to demonstrate 
good governance (annual governance 
statement) 
 

▪ Annual governance statement prepared annually including 
opinion by internal audit service on controls in place. 
 

▪ Annual Governance Statement presented to and approved 
by Joint Audit Committee, which includes (if necessary) an 
action plan to address any significant control weaknesses. 
  

▪ Annual governance statement prepared annually by the Fire 
and Rescue Service including opinion by internal audit 
service on controls in place. Annual Governance Statement 
presented to and approved by the Joint Audit Committee. 
Formally signed off by the Commissioner, Chief Executive 
and S151 Officer. 

 
▪ We will carry out a review of our strategic documentation to 

ensure a consistency of language between the AGS, and 
these other documents.  We will aim to do this throughout 
2025/26 and as key documents come up for review. 
 

A review of strategic documentation 
will be undertaken in 2025/26 

 

G2 Implementing good practices in reporting  
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We provide assurance on the work carried 
out by CCFRA/CFRS.   
 

▪ The Fire & Rescue Authority will publish an Annual Report in 
autumn.  The report will highlight key challenges and 
achievements from the year and includes performance and 
financial information set out in a simple but informative way. 
  

▪ An updated Code of Corporate Governance has been 
prepared for 2024/2025 in line with the 2016 CIPFA/Solace 
Good Governance Framework for Local Government.   
  

▪ A review of the arrangements for internal audit have 
confirmed that the service meets the requirements of the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) during 
2024/25. 

  

We report on our performance, value for 
money and stewardship of our resources.   

▪ A comprehensive Risk Based Evidence Profile is available on 
the service website. 
 

▪ The annual statement of accounts is presented to the Joint 
Audit Committee for scrutiny and is subsequently published 
on the OPFCC’s website. 

.    

G3 Assurance and effective accountability  
 

We ensure that recommendations for 
corrective action made by external audit are 
acted upon.  

▪ Recommendations made by both internal and external audit 
are monitored through Executive Board Fire and the Senior 
Leadership Team, and are scrutinised by the Joint Audit 
Committee. 

  

We ensure an effective internal audit 
service with direct access to members is in 
place which provides assurance with 
regard to governance arrangements and 
recommendations are acted upon. 

▪ A review of the arrangements for internal audit have 
confirmed that the service meets the requirements of the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) during 
2024/25.   

 

New Auditors have been 
commissioned from 01/04/2025 due 
to failings in the service delivered by 
the previous company.   

 

▪ Implementation of recommendations arising from the internal 
audit plan, external audit reports and HMICFRS are 
monitored by the Joint Audit Committee.    
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Action Plan

 

Ref Action Lead Officer Implementation by Action Update May 2025 Revised Implementation 

Date

Status

CPA/3 We ensure staff demonstrate a strong commitment to the rule 

of the law as well as adhering to relevant laws and regulations

OPFCC 30th August The Fire & Rescue Service has a Service Level Agreement with one 

of the unitary councils to deliver legal support to the Fire 

Authority and Fire & Rescue Service on all legal matters.

The Chief Executive of the OPFCC is the Monitoring Officer for the 

Fire & Rescue Authority and has specific legal requirements in 

legislation for ensuring legality for investigating any suspected 

instances of failure to comply with these requirements and for 

reporting any such instances to the PFCC, JAC or the Police, Fire & 

Crime Panel. 

Outstanding recuitment of legal officer needs to be resolved

CPB/1 We ensure there is an open culture through demonstrating, 

documenting and communicating the organisation’s 

commitment to openness

Blue Light Collaboration 

Manager 

31st July 2025 Introduce the facility for members of the public to submit 

questions for consideration at all PACs.

Updates on Information Governance to be provided regularly to 

Fire Executive Board

CPB/1 We provide clear reasoning and evidence for decisions in both 

public records and explanations to stakeholders.   

Blue Light Collaboration 

Manager 

31st July 2025 Decision template to be reviewed to allow consistent reporting at 

all OPFCC meetings.

CPB/3 We are clear on the types of issues we will consult with or 

involve stakeholders or service users to ensure service provision 

is contributing towards the achievement of intended outcomes.   

Head of Planning and 

Improvement

31st January 2026 Development of an Operational Cover Review will necessitate a 

comprehensive round of consultation with all interested parties 

on any changes to service delivery.

Complete

CPC/1 We deliver defined outcomes on a sustainable basis within the 

resources that will be available

Chief Fire Officer 31-Dec-25 Embed the delivery of the new Service Improvement Board Complete

CPC/1 We identify and manage risks to the achievement of outcomes.    Head of Programmes and Risk 31-Jul-25 Ensure the creation of a new risk register that combines both that 

of the OPFCC and that of the Service

Complete

CPD/2 We establish and implement robust planning and control cycles 

that cover strategic and operational plans, priorities and targets.  

 Ensuring that they are flexible and agile to adapt delivery 

outputs and changing circumstances.  

CFRS 31-Mar-26 Following review of internal governance, new reporting 

structures to be embedded  

CPD/2 We consider and monitor risks facing each partner when 

working collaboratively including shared risks.  

OPFCC 31-Jul-25 Appropriate mechanisms will need to be agreed with the OPFCC 

and Constabulary to identify and monitor risks of any new 

collaboration arrangements as and when they are implemented.  

CPD/2 We ensure the achievement of `social value’ through service 

planning and commissioning.  The Public Services (Social Value) 

Act 2012 states that this is “the additional benefit to the 

community …..over and above the direct purchasing of goods, 

services and outcomes”.  

Chief Fire Officer 30-Sep-25 The Fire & Rescue Service, in collaboration with the Fire & Rescue 

Authority, should put in place a mechanism for monitoring social 

value benefits as part of contract monitoring.  

A shared commercial function goes lives as of the 1st June.  The 

Head of Commercial will work with the Chief Fire Officer to 

ensure the above.

Complete

Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.

Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law.

Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental benefits  

Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended outcomes. 
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CPD/2 We have established performance indicators to identify how the 

performance of services and projects is to be measured.  

Head of Safety and Assurance 31-Oct-25 Establishment of the Service Improvement Board will allow more 

focus on performance and individuals to be held to account by 

the Chief Fire Officer

31/03/2026

CPD/2 We inform medium and long-term resource planning by 

drawing up realistic estimates of revenue and capital 

expenditure aimed at developing a sustainable funding strategy.  

Head of Finance 31-Jan-26 Resource planning will be improved through the delivery of an 

operational cover review which will provide the required 

evidence to inform decision making.

Compelte

CPE/1 We develop and maintain an effective workforce plan to 

enhance the strategic allocation of resources. 

Assistant Chief Fire Officer 31-Oct-25 Ensure a detailed Workforce Development Plan properly aligns to 

the Medium-Term Financial Plan.

CPE/2 We develop the capabilities of senior management to achieve 

effective shared leadership and to enable the organisation to 

respond successfully to changing legal and policy demands as 

well as economic, political and environmental changes and risks. 

Assistant Chief Fire Officer 31-Oct-25 360 process needs to be implemented across the Service to fulfil 

one of the recommendations of the HMICFRS Culture and Values 

report.

CPE/3 We develop the capability of staff within the Fire & Rescue 

Authority and Fire & Rescue Service  

Assistant Chief Fire Officer 31-Oct-25 The workforce plan needs to be developed to reflect the needs of 

all staff members including Green book.

CPE/3 We hold staff to account through regular performance reviews 

which take into account training or development needs

Assistant Chief Fire Officer 31-Oct-25 Action plan for the improvement of Apprisal completion rates to 

be developed.

CPE/3 We ensure that there are arrangements to maintain the health 

and wellbeing of the workforce, both physical and mental 

wellbeing. 

Assistant Chief Fire Officer 31-Oct-25 A new mental health App is being introduced which will facilitate 

easier access to more up to date information.  This needs to be 

rolled out in 2025

CPF/1 We recognise that risk management is an integral part of all 

activities and must be considered in all aspects of decision 

making.  

Head of Programmes and Risk 30-Jun-25 Following a recommendation by JAC, the OPFCC will merge its risk 

register with that of the Service to provide one cohesive 

document.

Complete

CPF/1 Where information is shared with other organisations we 

ensure there are effective arrangements for data sharing in 

place.   

Head of Legal 31-Dec-25 Comprehensive review of all DSAs to be carried out

CPG/3 We ensure an effective internal audit service with direct access 

to members is in place which provides assurance with regard to 

governance arrangements and recommendations are acted 

upon.

Chief Finance Officer 31 March 2025 Review of the performance of the newly commissioned audit 

service to be carried out to ensure value for money is being 

delivered.

Core Principle G: Focusing on implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability.  

Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial management.  

Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity's capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.   
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Conclusion 
Significant progress has continued to be made around governance of CCFRA and CFRS.  The action plan for areas identified for improvement is 
monitored regularly through Executive Board Fire and Joint Audit Committee. 
 
 
Signed 
 

 
 
David Allen 
Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner 
 
 

 
 
Paul Hancock 
Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

 
 
Gill Shearer 
Chief Executive (Monitoring Officer) 

 
 
Steven Tickner 
Chief Finance Officer (S.151) 
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SECTION 7 - FINANCIAL ABBREVIATIONS  

 
 

AGS   Annual Governance Statement 
CAA   Capital Adjustment Account 
CFR   Capital Financing Requirement 
CIPFA  Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
CIES   Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
FRS   Financial Reporting Standards 
IIA   Institute of Internal Auditors 
IAS   International Accounting Standards 
ISA   International Standards in Auditing 
IFRS   International Financial Reporting Standards 
LASAAC   Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee 
LGPS   Local Government Pension Scheme 
MTFP   Medium Term Financial Plan 
MRP   Minimum Revenue Provision  
NNDR   National Non-Domestic Rates 
PPE   Property, Plant and Equipment 
PSIAS  Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards 
RSG   Revenue Support Grant 
SeRCOP  Service Reporting Code of Practice 
VFM   Value of Money 
 


